

Master thesis

Bio-SAF vs. e-SAF: land-use efficiency of conversion routes for sustainable aviation fuel production in the EU

A land-use comparison of SAF production routes using biomass, renewable hydrogen and direct air capture

Thijmen Boter 5983487 Energy Science

Supervisor: Prof. dr. Martin Junginger Second reader: Dr. Matteo Gazzani

Date: 14-05-2023 Word count: 18,486



Abstract

The aviation sector is difficult to de-fossilize, with few alternatives to fossil jet fuel. The two alternatives that show the highest potential are sustainable air fuel (SAF) produced from either biomass or from CO₂ derived from direct air capture (DAC) and renewable hydrogen. However, bio-based SAF (bio-SAF) and electro-SAF (e-SAF) both require substantially more land compared to the production of conventional jet fuel, as fossil sources have higher energy densities than biomass or renewable electricity. The current body of literature on sustainable aviation is missing an extensive land use comparison between bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes, while land use is an important environmental indicator of the energy sector. This research aims to fill that gap, by constructing a model which includes all necessary chemical conversions and maps the required utilities such as hydrogen, electricity and heat. The included routes are hydro-processed esters and fatty acids (HEFA), alcohol to jet (AtJ), biomass to liquid (BtL), CO₂ hydrogenation and methanol upgrading (e-MeOH) and CO₂ upgrading to SAF through Fischer-Tropsch synthesis (e-FT). Land should be used as efficiently as possible, so hybrid solar & wind farms and combinations of bio-SAF and e-SAF production are examined in this research.

The results show that e-SAF production uses 10 - 20 times less land compared to bio-SAF for the same amount of fuel production. This is mainly due to biomass harvests only taking place once a year, while CO₂ capture and electricity production can take place continuously. However, e-SAF production requires 5 - 30times as much electricity due to the large hydrogen demand, energy consumption of DAC and heat supply. As electricity is also becoming a scarcer resource, the trade-off between land and electricity requirements needs to be made for the production of SAF. It is expected that bio-SAF routes are a viable alternative to fossil jet fuel the next few decades as they are further in development and have lower costs compared to e-SAF. E-SAF routes are expected to be the better option towards 2050 when DAC and electrolyzers are further developed, costs have decreased and renewable electricity is more abundantly available. Combined routes are also an alternative, as electricity requirements are lower compared to individual e-SAF routes in exchange for slightly higher land use.

Table of Contents

1.	Intr	oduction6
	1.1.	Societal background
	1.2.	Scientific background
	1.3.	Problem definition & research questions
2.	The	ory10
	2.1.	Land use competition and efficiency10
	2.2.	Biomass cultivation-, solar energy- and wind energy potentials in the EU 11
	2.3.	Bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes15
	2.3.3	1. Bio-SAF production routes
	2.3.2	2. E-SAF production routes
3.	Met	hods 22
	3.1.	Conversion model
	3.2.	Operationalization
	3.3.	Data collection
4.	Res	ults
4	4.1.	Land use breakdowns
4	4.2.	Electricity requirement breakdown
4	4.3.	Sensitivity analysis
5.	Disc	ussion
6.	Con	clusion
7.	Refe	erences
8.	Арр	endices

List of tables

Table 1 - General input data	29
Table 2 - Input data for electricity production	
Table 3 - Input data HEFA production route	
Table 4 - Input data AtJ(+) production route	
Table 5 - Input data BtL production route	
Table 6 - Input data e-MeOH production route	
Table 7 – Input data e-FT production route	
Table 8 - Input data for sensitivity analysis	61

List of figures

Figure 1 - Food, energy and environment trilemma including pressuring factors (adapted from Harvey &						
Pilgrim, 2011)	10					
Figure 2 - Marginal land, or Areas with Natural Constraints (ANC), in the EU. UAA stands for Utilized						
Agricultural Area. (Elbersen et al., 2018)						
igure 3 - Maximum yield potential of biofuels produced from lignocellulosic (2nd generation) crops in the						
EU (Vera et al., 2021)	13					
Figure 4 - Global irradiation map of Europe (JRC, 2014)	14					
Figure 5 - Annual mean wind speeds in Europe at 100m above ground (Enevoldsen et al., 2019)	15					
Figure 6 - Overview of conversion processes from biomass feedstock to bio-SAF (Neuling & Kaltschmitt, 20	15)					
	15					
Figure 7 - Biomass conversion pathways, namely HEFA, BtL/FTS and AtJ (Klein et al., 2018)	18					
Figure 8 – Schematic visualization of LT DAC operation (Fasihi et al., 2019)	19					
Figure 9 - Schematic visualization of PEM electrolyzer	19					
Figure 10 - Production route of e-fuels through methanol synthesis (German Environment Agency, 2016)	20					
Figure 11 - Production route of e-fuels through FTS (German Environment Agency, 2016)	21					
Figure 12 - Conversion model outline	24					
Figure 13 - Combined solar and wind farm array (Ludwig et al., 2020)	26					
Figure 14 - Land use breakdown of bio-SAF production routes	34					
Figure 15 – Land use breakdowns of e-SAF production routes in realistic electricity provision scenario	35					
Figure 16 - Electricity requirement breakdown of bio/e-SAF production routes	36					
Figure 17 - Sensitivity analysis land use bio-SAF production routes	37					
Figure 18 - Sensitivity analysis land use e-SAF production routes	38					
Figure 19 - Surplus land share of total agricultural lands in the EU (Krasuska et al., 2010)	55					
Figure 20 - Climate, soil and terrain constraints for rain-fed agriculture in Europe (Allen et al., 2014)	56					
Figure 21 - Potential energy yields of 1st generation biofuels from feedstocks cultivated on surplus						
agricultural land (Fischer et al., 2010)	57					
Figure 22 - Potential energy yields of 2nd generation biofuels from feedstocks cultivated on pastures and						
surplus agricultural land (Fischer et al., 2010)	57					
Figure 23 - Conversion of triglycerides to alkanes (Sotelo-Boyás et al., 2012)	58					
Figure 24 - Hydrogenation of an alkene (Pechstein et al., 2018)	59					
Figure 25 - Wind farm Poland Głuszynko-grapice (part of Potegowo)	60					
Figure 26 - Wind farm Spain Phoenix (Aguillon)	60					
Figure 27- Land use breakdowns of e-SAF production routes in optimistic electricity provision scenario	62					
Figure 28 - Sensitivity analysis electricity consumption SAF production routes	62					

1. Introduction

1.1. Societal background

The European Union (EU) is making significant efforts to de-fossilize all sectors in order to limit global warming to 1.5 °C in accordance with the Paris agreement. Industrial and civil sectors show a constant decreasing trend in greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions compared to 1990 levels, but this is not the case for the transport sector (European Environment Agency, 2017; Transport & Environment, 2018). Transport accounts for 28.5% of total emissions in the EU and is the only sector which has not seen a decrease since 1990 (Statista, 2020). Although the share of electric passenger vehicles is increasing, emissions emitted by heavy transport such as trucks, maritime shipping and aviation are difficult to remove (Davis et al., 2018). Electrification of transport becomes more difficult as the mass and travel range of the vehicle increases (Gray et al., 2021). For aviation, there are limited options which can be implemented to de-fossilize and there are currently no carbon-neutral commercial plane flights (Timmons & Terwel, 2022; Chiaramonti, 2019). In 2019, the aviation industry was responsible for only 3.4% of total EU emissions, but the number of flights and corresponding emissions are increasing quickly (Statista, 2020; Timmons & Terwel, 2022). Emissions have decreased significantly in 2020 due to COVID-19 pandemic but are expected to double or even triple between 2020 and 2050 as the sector rebounds (Gössling et al., 2021; ICAO, 2020). Therefore, it is urgent to find new solutions and technologies which can help de-fossilize the aviation industry and reduce GHG emissions.

Possible alternatives to fossil-based jet fuel/kerosene are electrical propulsion, hydrogen, biofuels and Power-to-X (P2X) (Faber et al., 2020). These fuels and technologies are in different stages of development, but they are all significantly more expensive to produce compared to conventional fossil jet fuel (Chiaramonti, 2019). The energy density of fossil fuels is substantially higher compared to renewable alternatives, as the former is obtained from concentrated energy deposits underground (Smil, 2015; Capellán-Pérez et al., 2017). Therefore, a substantial amount of land is needed in order to fully de-fossilize the aviation sector by implementing renewable propulsion alternatives. Land requirements for fuel production are important to investigate, as land is becoming a scarcer resource (Lambin & Meyfroidt, 2011) and competition for land is gaining more attention as a subject on regional, national and global levels (Harvey & Pilgrim, 2011). The same is true for electricity, as electrification of demand is gaining more attention in the transport, (residential) buildings and industry sectors (Huismans, 2022). As multiple end uses require more electricity in the future, competition for renewable electricity is expected to increase as a result. Land should be used as efficiently as possible; therefore, it is worthwhile to investigate which alternative fuels for the aviation sector are most efficient in terms of land use.

1.2. Scientific background

Due to the success of electric light duty vehicles during the last decade, the question arises if batteries could help de-fossilize the aviation industry. The main problem with battery-powered planes is the relatively low amount of energy that can be stored. Where hydrocarbon fuel has a heating value of 12,000 W-h/kg, only 250 W-h/kg worth of energy can be stored in batteries (Faber et al., 2020). Moreover, the electric equipment is heavier than equipment used for hydrocarbons. Due to the size and weight of the batteries, battery-powered aviation will be limited to short distances, and therefore will make a small contribution to emission reductions (Langford & Hall, 2020).

Another zero-carbon fuel option is hydrogen, which has an energy density per mass unit that is three times larger than jet fuel. However, the energy density per volume unit is significantly smaller, which means that a larger hydrogen tank is needed to travel the same distance as with a conventional fuel tank (Faber et al., 2020). Additionally, thick insulation walls are required to store the hydrogen, decreasing the amount of possible hydrogen storage and increasing the plane weight. Major plane configuration changes and development of infrastructure are necessary, which is why hydrogen-powered planes are not expected to be available in the near future (Timmons & Terwel, 2022).

With the current aircraft designs and need for high energy density fuels, synthetic hydrocarbons seem like the best option to de-fossilize the aviation sector in the short to medium term as they have similar chemical and physical properties to conventional jet fuel (Adami et al., 2021). Therefore, these so called 'drop-in'

fuels can be combusted in existing engines (Faber et al., 2020), but they do require significant amounts of land. Drop-in fuels can be categorized into biofuels and electro-fuels (e-fuels). In the aviation sector specifically, they are referred to as sustainable aviation fuels (SAF) consisting of biomass-based SAF (bio-SAF) and electro-SAF (e-SAF).

Biofuels are fuels which are produced with 1st, 2nd or 3rd generation biomass feedstocks via multiple possible routes (Yilmaz, 2022). Biofuels for aviation are currently the most cost-effective option for sustainable fuels (Davis et al., 2018) and the only alternative which has been produced in commercial amounts (Gray et al., 2021). Fuels produced from 1st generation feedstocks (biomass that is usually edible, such as sugar, starch and vegetable oil) are fully developed and have been commercially available for some time (Bringezu et al., 2007). However, biomass for fuel production (especially 1st generation crops) requires the cultivation of agricultural lands which leads to competition with food security (Davis et al., 2018; Mueller et al., 2011). Between 2% and 3% of global agricultural lands (2% for EU specifically) are used for the production of biofuels, mainly bioethanol and biodiesel (Rulli et al., 2016; European Commission, 2012). An increase in the demand of biofuels can lead to indirect land use change (ILUC) as food producers are displaced and forced to transform natural ecosystems into new agricultural lands (Ahlgren & Di Lucia, 2014; Jering et al., 2013). These original lands can have a high carbon stock (e.g., forests) which will be reduced if the land is converted into agricultural grounds, which could even lead to biofuels producing more emissions compared to conventional fossil fuels (Gawel & Ludwig, 2011). Therefore, the sustainability of biofuel production from 1st generation feedstocks is contested, both ecologically and socio-economically (Bastos Lima, 2021).

Research shows that 2nd generation feedstocks can also be used for biofuel production and can be grown more sustainably (Bhuiya et al., 2016). 2nd generation biofuels are fuels produced from multiple different feedstocks, such as residues from energy crops, lignocellulosic biomass or waste streams (Lee & Lavoie, 2013). The main difference with 1st generation feedstocks is that 2nd generation feedstocks are inedible, so the related biofuel production does not compete directly with food security. Moreover, this type of biomass can be cultivated on marginal lands, which generally require less water and soil fertility compared to arable lands needed for 1st generation biomass (Bhuiya et al., 2016). It should be noted that it is more difficult to convert 2nd generation feedstocks into liquid fuels, as processes become more complex and expensive with increasing complexity in terms of chemical composition of the biomass (Lee & Lavoie, 2013). Therefore, biofuel production from 2nd generation biomass is less developed compared to 1st generation biomass. Finally, 3rd generation feedstocks are currently defined as algae used for fuel production, but these are left out of the scope as production costs are ten times as high compared to conventional oil (Valdovinos-García, 2022). Therefore, the competitivity of algal fuel with other biomass feedstocks is low and is not expected to increase substantially before 2050.

The other pathway to sustainable hydrocarbons is through electro-fuel (or e-fuel) production, also known as the concept of Power-to-Liquid (Schmidt et al., 2018). The main source of carbon for these fuels is CO₂, which can be either captured in concentrated industrial steams (like with carbon capture and storage, or CCS) or with the more novel direct air capture (DAC). E-fuel production is a form of carbon capture and utilization (CCU), which differs from CCS as the obtained CO₂ is used to produce new products, instead of being stored underground. Captured CO_2 can be combined with renewable hydrogen to produce kerosinelike fuels. As these processes, such as DAC, are early in development, costs are high compared to conventional jet fuel production (Faber et al., 2020). Although costs are high, multiple reports claim that efuel production requires significantly less land compared to biofuel production and that e-fuel production does not need to take place on agricultural lands (Malins, 2017; Schmidt et al., 2016a; Schmidt et al., 2018; Transport & Environment, 2023). This claim is based on the fact that solar PV converts ± 17 % of solar radiation into useful energy, while only 0.2 % of solar radiation is converted into useful energy by biomass (Searchinger et al., 2017). Therefore, it would be more efficient to produce energy with solar panels compared to using land to cultivate biomass for biofuel production. However, the production of synthetic hydrocarbon fuels such as diesel or SAF, also requires a substantial amount of electricity for DAC and electrolyzers. The reports of Malins (2017) and Schmidt et al. (2016a; 2018) claim that e-fuels produce 5-10 times as much fuel per hectare compared to biofuels, depending on geographical location. However, the claims of these reports are based on simple calculations and multiple assumptions, such as that all produced electricity can be used for e-fuel production without any losses. This is not a realistic assumption, as it is difficult to match the volatile renewable electricity production with the constant electricity demand of fuel production.

In the current body of literature for the comparison between biofuels and e-fuels, a thorough land use comparison is missing. This research aims to fill that gap by extensive modelling of the conversion processes and utilities (such as hydrogen, electricity and heat) required for multiple biofuel and e-fuel production routes, specifically for SAF. This research combines relevant data of the most recent studies on bio-SAF and e-SAF conversion processes and aims to create a range of data to increase robustness of the land use comparison. Additionally, conversion processes of bio-SAF and e-SAF production are combined to increase overall land use efficiency. For instance, CCU is implemented in bio-SAF processes where CO₂ is emitted and wind power is combined with biomass cultivation. It is worthwhile to research these combinations, as the impact of these combinations on land use has not been studied as of yet.

1.3. Problem definition & research questions

The production of SAF for the EU aviation industry is limited to land in the EU in this research, SAF is not imported from other regions in the world. There is typically more land available outside of Europe, but production in the EU is preferred as production close to demand minimizes the required infrastructure and transport, while also increasing energy security. EU countries have always been dependent on other nations for their fossil fuel supply, 96% of crude oil has been imported from other countries in 2020 for example (Siemens Gamesa, 2022). As the economy of the EU is dependent on the supply of stable and affordable energy, it is important to have control on as much energy supply as possible, especially in light of the impacts of the conflict between Ukraine and Russia (European Commission, 2022; Porsborg-Smith et al., 2022).

There are multiple routes to convert biogenic feedstocks into SAF, such as (waste) oils, dedicated energy crops and woody biomass (Neuling & Kaltschmitt, 2015). Routes are only considered if they are approved by ASTM international, which is a safety approval required for use in commercial flights (ICAO, 2021). There are currently four ASTM approved bio-SAF processes, which use either food/waste oil, woody biomass, sugar-, starch- and lignocellulosic crops (Neuling & Kaltschmitt, 2015).

Two e-SAF routes are considered, which are further elaborated upon in the next section of this research. A combination of solar and wind energy is used for the electricity production, as their power profiles complement each other which creates a more constant power output during the day and year (Monforti et al., 2014). Only onshore wind will be included, as offshore wind does not have an impact on land-use. The required CO_2 will be collected only with DAC. Concentrated industrial CO_2 streams are initially not considered in the e-SAF routes, as synthetic hydrocarbons produced out of CO_2 from fossil sources cannot be regarded as 'sustainable' aviation fuel (Bracker & Timpe, 2017). By reusing the captured CO_2 from fossil sources for fuel production, it contributes to climate change when SAF is combusted in air plane engines. As some biofuel conversion routes do emit CO_2 , concentrated biogenic CO_2 streams will be included in the analysis to maximize carbon-efficiency. In this case, the carbon in CO_2 which would otherwise be emitted, is upgraded to SAF through e-SAF conversion processes. Electric propulsion and hydrogen fuel are not considered due to their early stage of development and small expected contribution to GHG emission reductions in the aviation sector. Moreover, bio-SAF and e-SAF have similar properties to conventional jet fuel and therefore fit in easily into existing infrastructure and plane design. The following main research question is formulated:

What is the optimal bio-SAF or e-SAF production route for de-fossilizing the aviation industry in the EU in terms of land use efficiency?

To answer the main research question, multiple sub questions can be formulated. First, the potential of $(1^{st} \& 2^{nd} generation)$ biomass, solar and wind energy within the EU is discussed. As these potentials can vary substantially across the EU, two regions within the EU are selected as case studies. The availability of land also plays a role in the choice of region for the case studies, which is discussed along with prior research on marginal and surplus land in the EU.

Next, the necessary conversion processes within the bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes are identified. The conversion efficiencies and utility requirements, such as hydrogen, electricity and heat, are the most important parameters for determining the land use of the production routes. This data is collected by consulting literature on bio-SAF and e-SAF production. The land use of the SAF production routes is determined by building a conversion model in Excel. Land use breakdowns are created for both case studies, to indicate the most important contributors to the land use and electricity requirement of the bio-SAF and

e-SAF production routes. As optimizing the land use of fuel production is of great importance, combinations of bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes are examined too.

- 1. Which regions in the EU have the highest biomass, solar and wind energy potentials and available area for SAF production?
- 2. What are the necessary conversion processes and utilities for the bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes?
- 3. What is the land use of the bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes in the proposed regions?
- 4. What are the most important contributors to total land use and electricity requirement of the bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes?

2. Theory

2.1. Land use competition and efficiency

Land use can be defined as "the human use of land, representing economic and cultural activities such as agricultural and residential uses" (Environmental Protection Agency, 2022). Land competition between multiple land uses is expected to increase the next decades, mostly due to changes in food and energy supply. More than half of global habitable land is used for agriculture, of which 77% is for livestock (and feed production for the livestock) and the remaining 23% is for crop cultivation (Statista, 2019). Almost all cropland is used for the production of food and the amount of land needed is expected to increase due to the growing population (Harvey & Pilgrim, 2011). On the other hand, petrochemical resources are slowly being phased out but the total demand of energy is increasing. Therefore, alternatives such as bioenergy and solar energy are deployed more, thus leading to higher land use. The increase in food and energy demand puts more pressure on global land use and leads to higher LUC and ILUC (and therefore GHG emissions) (Harvey & Pilgrim, 2011). The trade-off between these three factors is known as the food, energy and environment trilemma and is schematically displayed in Figure 1 (Tilman et al., 2009).



Figure 1 - Food, energy and environment trilemma including pressuring factors (adapted from Harvey & Pilgrim, 2011)

Where fossil-based jet fuel can be produced with a relatively small amount of land, SAF is produced with biomass or renewable energy which generally require large amounts of land. In this research, land use refers to all land that is used for SAF production, consisting of the land required to produce carbon feedstocks (biomass or CO₂) and utilities such as electricity or hydrogen. Additionally, land is only 'used' when the primary activity withholds other activities from taking place. This is the case with crop cultivation for biofuels or solar farms for large scale electricity production, as no other activity can take place on the land that is used for these activities. One exception is agri-solar photovoltaics, which enables dual land use by combining agriculture with solar PV. Agri-solar photovoltaics are not included in this research as they prevent sunlight from reaching crops. Another exception is wind energy; large distances are required between turbines to ensure the maximum efficiency, but other activities can take place on the ground in between the turbines, such as biomass cultivation for biofuels or solar PV to produce additional electricity.

The quality of land is also important to take into account when assessing land use. There is a distinction between fertile arable lands and less fertile marginal, unused and abandoned lands. The former is more valuable and experiences more competition for land, as it can be used to produce both food and energy from 1st generation biomass. The latter type of land is characterized by adverse biophysical conditions, consisting of 1) harsh/extreme climate, 2) soil too wet, 3) low fertility soil, 4) soil contamination, 5) unfavorable root conditions and 6) unfavorable site conditions as shown by Elbersen et al. (2018). These conditions make it difficult to grow 1st generation crops on marginal lands, but 2nd generation energy crops can produce high yields in less favorable conditions (Lewandowski, 2015; Lewandowski et al., 2016). Therefore, bio-SAF can either be produced from 1st generation crops grown on arable lands or from 2nd generation energy crops grown on marginal lands.

E-SAF production is less dependent on the quality of land, compared to bio-SAF production. The carbon feedstock of e-SAF, CO₂, is obtained directly from the atmosphere with DAC. E-SAF production requires large amounts for electricity for the capture of CO₂ and hydrogen production, but the performance of wind and solar PV is not dependent on soil quality. Solar and wind energy can be produced on both arable and marginal lands. However, renewable electricity production (especially solar PV) on degraded and marginal lands is preferred due to the increasing scarcity of fertile land. Some studies even argue that solar PV provides benefits for the environment and vegetation in areas with degraded lands (Hernandez et al., 2014; Hernandez et al., 2015; Vervloesem et al., 2022). A study by Li et al. (2018b) has shown that large scale wind and solar energy production can increase the temperature and the amount of precipitation in degraded areas, leading to more vegetation. This creates a positive feedback loop, as vegetation leads to additional precipitation. This shows that renewable electricity production could potentially be used to slowly return degraded and marginal lands to their initial states.

Independently of the land used for SAF production, it is important to use the available land as efficiently as possible. Land use efficiency typically refers to the amount of societal benefits reaped from land use activities, generally the amount of output of a unit of land like yield or economic benefit (Auziņš et al., 2013). In this research, land use efficiency indicates the amount of land required to produce a unit of SAF. The land use efficiency of SAF production is dependent on geographical factors such as biomass cultivation-, solar energy- and wind energy potentials.

2.2. Biomass cultivation-, solar energy- and wind energy potentials in the EU

Within the EU, agriculture is the primary source of land use, accounting for approximately 39% of all land. The agricultural lands consist of arable lands, permanent crops (such as fruit and olive trees), pastures and grasslands. Forestry accounts for 36% and unused or abandoned areas take up 15% of the land in the EU. The latter can also be characterized as marginal lands. The remaining 10% is used for residential uses, industry and fishing (European Commission, 2021).

As mentioned in the introduction, only a small percentage of agricultural land is used for biofuel production, meaning that the vast majority is used for food and feed production. However, a substantial amount of land is needed in the future to produce biomass and renewable electricity for the production of renewable fuels. It is of utter importance that renewable fuel production does not compete with food production in terms of land and valuable natural lands and carbon stocks (such as forests) should be kept intact to reduce the environmental impacts of fuel production. This ensures that (future) food supply is not compromised by fuel production and reduces the risk of (I)LUC. This begs the questions on which lands and in which regions within the EU biofuel or e-fuel production should take place.

Ideally, renewable fuel production takes place on so called surplus land. Surplus land is an umbrella term for all land that is potentially available for renewable fuel production, specifically biofuels (Dauber et al., 2012). Surplus land consists of 1) lands which are unfit for the production of food, feed or other renewable sources due to lacking biophysical conditions (such as marginal and abandoned lands) and 2) arable lands which become available for fuel production due to the already satisfied food and feed demand (Krasuska et al., 2010; Brinkman et al., 2018). The prior type of surplus land (mostly marginal) can be used for the cultivation of 2nd generation biomass or renewable electricity production. Some of these lands do need to be excluded due to prohibitions of socio-economic activities on protected lands or to remoteness of the lands, making socio-economic activities less attractive (European Commission, 2021). The second type of surplus land can arise due to increasing crop yields for food and feed production and due to decreasing population in some EU countries. These lands are more valuable due to better biophysical conditions and could be used for 1st generation biomass cultivation.

Unfortunately, there is no recent research on the quantification and locations of surplus lands in the EU. Krasuska et al. (2010) have researched the increase of surplus land in the EU with scenarios for 2020 and 2030, by assessment of expected increasing agricultural efficiencies and population changes. The results are shown in Appendix 1, Figure 19. Krasuska et al. (2010) found that surplus land is expected to arise most in Eastern Europe, especially Poland, Hungary Romania and Bulgaria. These countries show high potential for land availability for fuel production due to high expected crop yield increase, decrease in population and high food self-sufficiency. Spain and Greece also have high shares of surplus land, due to the high amounts of fellow and marginal land in the countries. These shares do not increase substantially over the years, so this surplus land is expected to be of lesser quality compared to lands in Eastern Europe for example. This

is also reinforced by the earlier mentioned research by Elbersen et al. (2018) and Allen et al. (2014), their results are shown in Figure 2 and Appendix 1, Figure 20 respectively. Well-developed countries in North-Western Europe have a substantial amount of land without natural constraints, but populations are expected to increase in these countries, leading to higher land requirements to satisfy local food demand.



Figure 2 - Marginal land, or Areas with Natural Constraints (ANC), in the EU. UAA stands for Utilized Agricultural Area. (Elbersen et al., 2018)

Aside from the type of land on which biomass is cultivated, the potential of renewable fuels (specifically biofuels) is dependent on the type of crop and its yield per area unit. There are no recent studies on the potential of 1st generation biofuels in the EU, but food crops generally have the highest potential in areas without natural constraints as shown in Figure 2. 1st generation crops such as maize, rapeseed and sugar beet are most often selected for biofuel production due to their high yields and relatively simple conversions into fuels. Countries in (South) Western Europe generally provide the highest yields for these crops, but they can vary over the years substantially due to their dependency on weather conditions (Ritchie et al., 2022).

Regarding 2nd generation crops, Vera et al. (2021) performed a study on the biomass potential of 2nd generation crops by only assessing marginal lands which meet the 2030 sustainability criteria of the Renewable Energy Directive II (REDII), see Figure 3. The results of this study are in line with the marginal lands identified by Elbersen et al. (2018), showing most lands fit for production in Spain, Greece, parts of the UK, Scandinavia, the Baltics and central Italy. The right side of Figure 3 shows the type of lignocellulosic crop best fitted for each region, on which the biofuel potentials are based on. Miscanthus and switchgrass are the crop of choice in many regions in the EU, due to their adaptability to different climates. Giant reed is the best choice in warmer climates, the crop delivers on average the largest yields of all crops and has the highest water-use efficiency. Reed canary grass is characterized as the crop with the lowest theoretical yield, but highest tolerance and is therefore cultivated in areas where the temperature is too low or there is too much precipitation for the other crops. Eucalyptus is also tolerant to drier climates like giant reed and reed canary grass, but has an average lower yield compared to giant reed. Although willow and poplar are grown in almost each region in the EU and cardoon is grown in the mediterranean, they do not appear in Figure 3 due to their relatively low yields for biofuels.

Although areas such as Northern Spain, the UK, the Alps and Scandinavia contain areas fit for 2nd generation biofuel production, they have low potentials according to Vera et al. (2021). The Iberian peninsula (in specific Southern Spain), Greece, Hungary and Italy show the highest potential for biofuel production, due

to the large amounts of marginal land fit for production with giant reed and miscanthus, which both have high yields.



Figure 3 - Maximum yield potential of biofuels produced from lignocellulosic (2nd generation) crops in the EU (Vera et al., 2021)

Solar and wind energy

Similar to biofuels, the potential of e-fuel production is also dependent on location. The main variable affected by the location is the electricity generation, which is done with solar PV and wind turbines. Electricity generation is substantially less dependent on the type of land compared to biomass; PV panels and wind turbines do not produce less electricity when placed on marginal or inarable lands, compared to (surplus) arable lands. Marginal lands are often located in remote areas (see Figure 2), so the installment of large scale solar PV or wind farms for electricity generation would either require the e-fuel plant to be close to electricity generation or require a more complicated electricity transport system, as electricity generation would be located further away from the plant where it is used. Both options have disadvantages, the first option having high costs for maintenance as the plant would be difficult to reach and the second option having high costs for additional transport cables and batteries to ensure a secure electricity supply. In both cases, the construction, operation and maintenance of solar PV and/or wind farms in remote areas are difficult and costly, complicating the feasibility of the project (Hernandez et al., 2015).

The potential of solar PV production is dependent on the solar irradiation. A map of the yearly solar irradiation in Europe is shown in Figure 4. The Southern countries within the EU (Spain, France, Italy & Greece) have the highest yearly irradiation as they are closest to the equator. The Balkan countries also show good potential. The map also shows that there are large differences between countries, as parts of Spain have solar irradiations twice as high as the irradiation of countries located in North and Central Europe. The eventual solar PV potential is also influenced by the type of panel used (and its conversion efficiency) and the time of year, as the sun is more powerful during summer and the sun shines for more hours during the day.



Figure 4 - Global irradiation map of Europe (JRC, 2014)

The potential of wind energy is dependent on wind speed, which varies substantially across regions within Europe (see Figure 5). Figure 5 shows that wind speeds are generally highest at coastal areas in Northern Europe, with exceptions in Northern Spain, Southern France and the Greek isles. Wind speeds and thus wind potentials are lower in the Southern parts of Europe, opposed to solar irradiation and PV potential. Especially the UK and countries around the North and Baltic sea show high wind energy potentials. Areas such as Northeastern Spain, Northwestern France and other regions in Northeastern Europe also experience significant wind speeds above 5 m/s annually, which are still twice as high as wind speed is important to take into account as the wind power potential theoretically increases by a factor of 8 when the wind speed is doubled (IRENA, n.d.). Aside from wind speed, the power potential of wind energy is also influenced by the size of the turbine and the length of the blades. New turbines (generally with a capacity larger than 3 MW) are substantially larger and have larger swept areas compared to older models. The hub height of the turbine has a large impact on the turbine potential, as wind speeds increase at higher altitudes. There are many variables deciding the electricity generation potential of a wind turbine, which makes it hard to compare one wind farm with another.



Figure 5 - Annual mean wind speeds in Europe at 100m above ground (Enevoldsen et al., 2019)

2.3. Bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes

2.3.1. Bio-SAF production routes

Only ASTM approved SAF conversion routes are examined in this research, an overview is shown in Figure 6. The four approved routes are hydro processed esters and fatty acids (HEFA), direct sugar to hydrocarbon (DSHC), alcohol to jet (AtJ) and biomass to liquid (BtL). Where HEFA uses waste and food oils as feedstock, DSHC and AtJ are used for sugar and starch crops and BtL mainly uses lignocellulosic crops as input. Although DSHC is ASTM approved, the conversion route is the most expensive of all alternative SAF production routes due to the complexity of the process and low efficiency (Bauen et al., 2020). Moreover, the DSHC process only produces a large hydrocarbon called 'Farnesane' which can currently only be blended with conventional jet fuel to a maximum of 10% (Neuling & Kaltschmitt, 2015; E4tech, 2021). As AtJ is also used to convert sugar and starch crops into SAF, this research will focus on this technology instead of DSHC. Therefore, the investigated bio-SAF routes are HEFA, AtJ and BtL. Their process diagrams are shown in Figure 7 and the main processes can be found in formulas, see Appendix 2.



Figure 6 - Overview of conversion processes from biomass feedstock to bio-SAF (Neuling & Kaltschmitt, 2015)

Hydro processed esters and fatty acids/HEFA

The HEFA route requires oils as input, which can be extracted from feedstocks such as rapeseed, sunflowers, soybeans and palm. Rapeseed is used as feedstock for the HEFA route, due to the relatively high vegetable oil yield per hectare, especially compared to sunflower and soybean oil (Jazayeri, 2015; Triangle Biofuels Industries, Inc., n.d.). It is also an abundant feedstock in the EU, as the EU is the largest producer of rapeseed oil worldwide (Gaber et al., 2018; Statista, 2023b). Palm and jatropha oil have higher yields per hectare but are not considered, as they require tropical regions and cannot be cultivated in Europe.

During rapeseed harvest, rape straw is collected as byproduct. The straw is not fed into the HEFA process as it does not contain oil, but it can be used for other purposes. Rape straw is combusted for heat production in a research by Gupta et al. (2022), but another method is to plough the straw back into the soil to enhance the organic content and increase future yields (Fridrihsone et al., 2020). The latter is assumed in this thesis, as rapeseed yields are relatively low compared to other biomass feedstocks. Pre-treatment of the oil crop is the next step, which entails drying of the feedstock, oil extraction and pre-refining the oil. The biomass is dried to reduce moisture content which requires a substantial amount of heat. Oil extraction generally consists of cold pressing (mechanical pressing at low temperature) and further extraction with a solvent, such as hexane. Concentrated rape meal is produced as byproduct, which is high in protein and is generally used as animal feed. The obtained oil is pre-refined to remove impurities such as excess water, solvent and phospholipids (Gupta et al., 2022). Pure vegetable oil is obtained after pre-treatment.

Within the HEFA process, vegetable oil is hydrotreated, hydrocracked and isomerized into a range of fuels. The fuel mixture is distilled similar to conventional oil to end up with jet fuel. Vegetable oil consists mostly of triglycerides, but also contains diglycerides, monoglycerides and free fatty acids (FFA). During hydrotreatment, the glycerides and FFA's are converted into alkanes in a few steps, see Appendix 2.

The most important steps are the propane removal, which separates the three-branched molecules into long, single chain molecules, and the removal of oxygen. The obtained mix of alkanes (also called linear paraffins) needs to be isomerized and hydrocracked as final step, requiring hydrogen and catalysts. Isomerization turns the long chain hydrocarbons (linear paraffins) into branched hydrocarbons (isoparaffins) to reduce the freeze point, necessary to meet jet fuel A1 standards. Hydrocracking is applied to split the long chain paraffins into smaller chain paraffins, creating jet fuel similar to kerosine. Aside from jet fuel, the obtained fuel mix generally also contains diesel and naphtha. As these are useful co-products, they also need to be accounted for when assessing total land use. HEFA is a commercial process, so the TRL is 9 (Sotelo-Boyás et al., 2012; Starck et al., 2016; Tao et al., 2017; Goh et al., 2020; Monteiro et al., 2022).

Alcohol to jet/AtJ

Within the AtJ route, sugar is converted into ethanol and butanol with alcoholic fermentation, generally from sugar or starch crops (although lignocellulosic feedstocks can also be used, see Figure 6). As it is common practice to produce ethanol from corn, corn grain is used as feedstock for the AtJ production route. When corn is harvested, the corn grain is split from the corn stover, which is a useful byproduct. Corn stover has a relatively high energy content and can be combusted for heat production or gasified to convert into other useful products, for example. Sugar extraction from starch crops is more complex compared to sugar crops, as the sugar is not readily available for fermentation. First, the corn grain is pre-treated by dry-milling. After milling, the corn starches are cooked and liquefied by the enzyme α -amylase and are converted into liquid sugars by gluco-amylase afterwards (Kaltschmitt & Streicher, 2009). The sugar is extracted by washing the sugar out of the corn grain with the counter-current process (Pechstein et al., 2018). A main byproduct of this process are dried distillers grains and solubles (DDGS). Similar to rape meal, this byproduct is high in protein and can be utilized as a substitute for conventional animal feed.

Next, the acquired sugars (consisting mostly of glucose) are converted into alcohols through fermentation, such as ethanol and butanol. Ethanol fermentation is a mature process and has been carried out for centuries, butanol fermentation is relatively new and still in the R&D phase (Pechstein et al., 2018). Therefore, this research focuses on ethanol as main alcohol to convert into jet fuel. The main drawback of ethanol production is the associated released CO₂. However, the produced CO₂ is almost pure (> 99 vol %) and can be easily captured and stored or utilized for other processes (Huang et al., 2020).

The ethanol is dehydrated and converted into ethylene, which is converted further into long chain alkenes with oligomerization. Alkenes/olefins are unsaturated hydrocarbons and cannot be used directly as jet fuel, due to their instability. The alkene mixture is hydrogenated to convert them into alkenes, with the use of

catalyst at ambient temperature and pressure. Finally, the alkane mixture is distilled and fractionated to end up with usable jet fuel. The mixture also contains diesel and gasoline as useful co-products (Geleynse et al., 2018). The TRL of the AtJ route is 6-7 for sugar/starch feedstocks and slightly lower for lignocellulosic feedstocks (Bauen et al., 2020; Neuling & Kaltschmitt, 2015; Wang & Tao, 2016; Tiwari et al., 2023).

Biomass to liquid/BtL

The BtL route converts biomass (generally 2nd generation crops, such as dedicated energy crops or residues) into syngas by gasification. The syngas can be upgraded further into liquid fuels such as jet fuel with FTS. Switchgrass is used as feedstock for the BtL production route, as it is a versatile perennial grass which can be grown in areas with varying conditions, illustrated by Vera et al. (2021). Miscanthus or woody crops, such as willow or eucalyptus, can also be used but the chemical compositions and syngas yields are similar to those of switchgrass. The first step is pre-treatment of switchgrass, which is necessary to decrease particle size of the feedstock. This increases the surface area of the feedstock, making the heat transfer and biomass conversion during gasification more efficient. Biomass can be chopped and grinded during pre-treatment, but drying the biomass is most important. By reducing the moisture content, the gasification efficiency is improved and hydrogen is removed from the biomass which is unfavorable in fuel synthesis later in the process (Hu et al., 2012).

Two types of gasifiers can be used, a 'low' temperature fluidized bed gasifier (800 – 900 °C) and a high temperature entrained flow gasifier (1300 °C). Fluidized bed gasifiers are less capital intensive compared to entrained flow gasifiers, but the latter have higher carbon efficiencies (You & Wang, 2011). The entrained flow gasifier is preferred due to its higher efficiency, but it requires the feedstock to have a uniform and small particle size which serves a problem for biomass due to its fibrous characteristics (Damartzis & Zabaniotou, 2011). Fluidized bed gasifiers are more flexible when it comes to feedstocks and are used most often for gasification of 2nd generation biomass, especially dedicated energy crops such as switchgrass and miscanthus (Ciliberti et al., 2020).

The biomass enters the gasifier where it is pressurized and gasified with a mixture of pure oxygen and steam. The oxygen is obtained by feeding ambient air through an air separation unit, which splits the oxygen from the air mixture by using electricity. Steam is generated by heating water in a boiler, powered by produced syngas or additional biomass. During gasification, a mixture of CO, CO₂, H₂O, H₂, CH₄ and other CH molecules is formed by thermo-chemically breaking down (hemi)cellulose and lignin structures within the biomass, see Appendix 2.

Next, the obtained syngas is cleaned and the H₂ to CO ratio is adjusted to the optimal FT ratio with the water gas shift (WGS) reaction (You & Wang, 2011). The readjusted mixture of H₂ and CO is fed into the Fischer-Tropsch (FT) reactor, where they are combined to form a wide range of hydrocarbons, such as alkenes/olefins, alkanes/paraffins and other compounds like alcohols and aromatics (Wang & Tao, 2016). The initial share of jet fuel range hydrocarbons can be increased by hydro-treatment, such as hydrogenation and hydro-cracking. During hydro-treatment, hydrogen reacts with longer hydrocarbons to split them into shorter chain alkanes. As final step, the mixture is distilled to end up with a mixture which fits the desired jet fuel products (Fasihi, 2015). The remaining useful output consists of naphtha (and in some occasions LPG). Jet fuel can account for a maximum of 50% of total output according to Albrecht et al. (2013), although other research claims to achieve higher yields (Li et al., 2018a). The TRL for biomass feedstocks is 7-8, while FT synthesis from coal and gas is commercially available (Bauen et al., 2020; Neuling & Kaltschmitt, 2015; Wang & Tao, 2016; Tiwari et al., 2023).



2.3.2. E-SAF production routes

E-SAF production is defined as collecting CO_2 from ambient air, producing hydrogen from renewable electricity through electrolysis and upgrading the CO_2 to hydrocarbons such as SAF. SAF production through the e-fuel route consists of DAC, an electrolyzer for hydrogen production, the plant required for the conversion into fuel and renewable electricity to power all processes. The conversion of CO_2 and hydrogen into SAF can take place via methanol production and upgrading, or via FTS (Sharma et al., 2021).

DAC

Direct air capture is the process of capturing CO_2 from ambient air. Two types of DAC are the furthest in development: low temperature (LT) DAC, which uses solid adsorbents and operates under low pressure and medium temperature (80 – 120 °C) and high temperature (HT) DAC which uses liquid adsorbents and operates under high temperature (300 – 900 °C) (IEA, 2022a). LT DAC is expected to be more scalable in the future, as it requires significantly less heat compared to HT DAC and is the least expensive technology of the two (Fasihi et al., 2019; McQueen et al., 2021). Moreover, waste heat from fuel conversion processes can be used as heat input for LT DAC, decreasing heat demand from external sources and associated costs (Fasihi et al., 2017; Ram et al., 2018). Where HT DAC requires significant amounts of water per unit of captured CO_2 , LT DAC actually produces water as a byproduct from moisture from the atmosphere, which can be turned into hydrogen (Fasihi et al., 2017). Because of these benefits of LT DAC over HT DAC, the latter is not considered in this thesis.

LT DAC consists of two consecutive processes which occur in the same unit, adsorption and desorption (or regeneration). The two processes are shown in Figure 8. In the adsorption process, ambient air enters the DAC chamber naturally or with the use of fans. The CO_2 chemically binds with the solid sorbent, typically an amine or carbonate, while the remaining air without CO_2 leaves the chamber. When the sorbent is fully saturated with CO_2 , the chamber closes and the second process begins.

In the desorption process, the fans are turned off and the inlet of the DAC unit is closed. The CO_2 is released from the sorbent by increasing the temperature and decreasing the pressure inside the chamber, the exact conditions are dependent on the type of sorbent. The CO_2 is purified by removing any impurities and a pure stream of CO_2 leaves the DAC chamber (Fasihi et al., 2019). Some DAC systems also produce water as a byproduct, this is also dependent on the type of solvent.



Figure 8 – Schematic visualization of LT DAC operation (Fasihi et al., 2019)

Hydrogen production with electrolyzer

Polymer electrolyte membrane (PEM) electrolyzers are the most developed type of electrolyzer and are commercially available (Bertuccioli et al., 2014). Moreover, PEM electrolyzers are expected to have substantially lower costs and higher efficiencies in the near future, compared to other electrolyzer types such as alkaline (IEA, 2015; Noack et al., 2015). The PEM electrolyzer produces gaseous hydrogen from liquid water, with oxygen as byproduct. Hydrogen ions and oxygen are produced in the electrolyzer anode by splitting water, which also results in two separate electrons. In the cathode, the electrons are bound to the hydrogen ions to form hydrogen, see Figure 9. PEM electrolysis requires a substantial amount of electricity as input, which is provided by renewable sources such as solar PV and wind turbines. PEM electrolysis generally operates at a temperature of 80 °C (IEA, 2015), this temperature can be reached by using heat from other processes.



Figure 9 - Schematic visualization of PEM electrolyzer

*Conversion of CO*₂ *and hydrogen (Methanol upgrading)*

The first route to produce SAF from CO_2 and hydrogen is through methanol production. Methanol synthesis takes place through hydrogenation of CO_2 , generally with a copper catalyst (Borisut & Nuchitprasittichai, 2019; Malins, 2017). Next, methanol is converted into dimethyl ether (DME) and is further upgraded to long-chain hydrocarbons through oligomerization, similar to how ethanol and butanol are converted in the AtJ route (Ruokonen et al., 2021). ExxonMobil is the first to apply this series of reactions in their methanol

to gasoline (MTG) in the 1970's. They further developed the process into the methanol to olefins (MTO) and Mobil's olefins to gasoline and distillate (MOGD) processes in the 1990's. By combining these processes, methanol can be converted into gasoline, diesel and jet fuel (Avidan, 1988), see equations (1) until (5). A substantial amount of water is also produced, due to the large amount of dehydration reactions in the process. The last step is to hydrotreat the olefins to create paraffins (alkanes) and distilling the mixture to end up with SAF (Malins, 2017; Schmidt et al., 2016b; Schmidt et al., 2018; Terwel & Kerkhoven, 2018).

$$3H2 + CO2 \rightleftharpoons CH30H + H20 \tag{1}$$

$$2CH_3OH \to CH_3 - 0 - CH_3 + H_2O$$
 (2)

$$CH_3 - 0 - CH_3 \rightarrow (CH_2)_2 + 2H_20$$
 (3)

$$\frac{n}{2}(CH_2)_2 \to C_n H_{2n} \tag{4}$$

$$C_n H_{2n} + H_2 \to C_n H_{2n+2} \tag{5}$$

Methanol upgrading typically yields 81% (mass) mid-distillates, containing jet fuel and diesel (Schmidt et al., 2016b; Malins, 2017). The remaining part of the fuel mixture consists of diesel, gasoline, LPG and occasionally fuel gas (Liebner et al., 2004; Ruokonen et al., 2021). It is important to note that this route is not ASTM approved as of now (Drünert et al., 2020; E4tech, 2021). However, this route is considered as renewable methanol is expected to be an important feedstock for the chemical and transport sector (IRENA, 2021). Therefore, conversions of methanol into other end-products are likely to attract more attention in the near future, including SAF. Moreover, all individual processes shown above are commercially proven, only the combination of processes has not reached commerciality. The full conversion of CO_2 and hydrogen into SAF through methanol production is shown in Figure 10.



Figure 10 - Production route of e-fuels through methanol synthesis (German Environment Agency, 2016)

*Conversion of CO*₂ *and hydrogen (Fischer-Tropsch synthesis)*

The second SAF production route is through FTS, similar to the BtL route. The main difference between the two is that the BtL route uses syngas (combination of hydrogen and CO) as input and the e-fuel route starts with a mixture of hydrogen and CO_2 . The CO_2 is first converted into CO with the reverse water gas shift (RWGS) reaction, see equation (6). The RWGS operates at high temperatures between 800 and 1000 °C, at a pressure of 30 bar. The inverse of the RWGS, the water gas shift (WGS), is commercially available for the hydrogen production from natural gas. The RWGS is used less often and has a TRL of 7 (Concawe, 2022).

$$CO2 + H2 \rightleftharpoons CO + H2O \tag{6}$$

The obtained CO is fed into the FT reactor with additional hydrogen, where the CO is hydrogenated into long hydrocarbons (Schmidt et al., 2018). This step is similar to the FT reaction in the BtL route and is therefore ASTM approved with a TRL of 9 (Malins, 2017). A mixture of hydrocarbons is obtained, consisting of paraffins, olefins, alcohols and aromatics. The hydrocarbon mix is hydrocracked to convert olefins into paraffins and to decrease the chain length of long-chain paraffins. Finally, the mixture is distilled and refined to fit the desired jet fuel output profile. Low temperature (190 – 250 °C) FTS generally yields between 65% and 85% mid-distillates, containing mostly diesel and jet fuel products (Fasihi, 2015; Concawe, 2022). LPG and naphtha can also often be found in the fuel mixture. Jet fuel can account for a maximum of 50% of total output according to Albrecht et al. (2013). The full conversion of CO_2 and hydrogen into FT fuels is shown in Figure 11.



Figure 11 - Production route of e-fuels through FTS (German Environment Agency, 2016)

3. Methods

3.1. Conversion model

The previous section has shown that the potential of biomass, solar and wind energy is dependent on geographical location. Therefore, two case studies are carried out to assess the influence of geographical location on the land use of SAF production routes. The first case study is carried out in Spain, where biomass potential and solar irradiation are relatively high. The second is done in Poland, which has a lower biomass potential and solar irradiation compared to Spain, but a higher average wind energy potential. These two countries are chosen as they both have large amounts of available area for biomass cultivation and electricity production, but they have large differences in climate and soil quality. It is important to note that within countries, there are still large differences in biomass and renewable electricity potential on a local level.

The main research question is answered by designing a conversion model in Excel for three bio-SAF production routes (HEFA, AtJ & BtL) and two e-SAF production routes (methanol upgrading/e-MeOH & Fischer-Tropsch synthesis/e-FT), see **Error! Reference source not found.** The model determines the functional unit, which is expressed as the amount of hectares required to produce a kiloton of SAF. The main model input is the amount of produced SAF per day, which is a fixed value for each SAF production route. The conversion model determines the amount of feedstock required to produce the daily SAF production for each production route, by including the efficiencies of the conversion processes identified in the previous section. The required amount of utilities (hydrogen, heat and electricity) for each process is also determined.

The main difference between bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes is the carbon feedstock. Biomass (oil, sugar/starch and lignocellulosic crops) consists of large complex hydrocarbons which need to be broken down into smaller molecules (thermo)chemically and can only be harvested once a year. Therefore, large amounts of land are required to cultivate enough biomass for SAF production. In contrast, the feedstock of e-SAF production, CO2, is a simple molecule which needs to be upgraded to larger, complex molecules and can be collected from the atmosphere continuously. However, the processes within e-SAF production (CO2 capture, hydrogen production and the conversions into long-chain molecules) are energy-intensive, therefore requiring large amounts of electricity and land for solar and wind farms. Additionally, biomass feedstocks are easy and cost-efficient to store, but electricity, hydrogen and CO2 are not.

The total land use consists of the land required for biomass cultivation, DAC plant and the land required for utility production. Hydrogen is produced with electrolysis, which uses renewable electricity. Heat can be produced by heat pumps or by combustion of biomass or hydrogen. Heat pumps and hydrogen combustion also require renewable electricity to produce heat. Renewable electricity is assumed to be produced from a single hybrid solar and wind farm in each production route. These farms require land and are thus included in the total land use of each route. Land required by pre-treatment plants, SAF plants, electrolyzers and heat plants is not included, as it is expected that their impact is negligibly small.

Within the hybrid solar and wind farm, the solar panels are placed on the available areas between wind turbines to maximize land use efficiency. A combined bio-SAF and e-SAF route is also designed, where solar panels are substituted by biomass cultivation. This option is relevant to research, as the comparison between the combined route and individual e-SAF routes indicates if it is more land use efficient to use solar PV or biomass for SAF production. The combined route includes regular e-SAF production powered by wind turbines, along with the best performing bio-SAF production.

As all production routes produce useful co-products, LCA allocation methods are applied in the model. For instance, only a fraction of the rapeseed oil is converted into SAF, the other fraction is converted into other hydrocarbons. Therefore, only a fraction of the total land should be allocated to SAF production. Co-product allocation is generally done on the basis of product mass, energy content or economic value. As fuel products have different energy contents, allocation on the base of energy content is applied in this research. This is also a common approach in other LCA research on biofuels (Kim & Dale, 2002; De Jong et al., 2017; Niekurzak, 2021). Byproducts such as rape meal and DDGS are high in protein and can thus be used as animal feed. As these byproducts are used in a different end sector, a different allocation method is applied. This is done by allocation at the point of substitution, which refers to the co-product substituting another product, leading to avoided (environmental) burdens (Heijungs et al., 2021). In this research, rape meal and

DDGS can substitute soy meal as animal feed, which is a land-intensive product often related to environmental issues. The avoided burdens, the avoided land use for soy meal production in this case, are subtracted from the total land use of SAF production. A similar method can be applied in instances where SAF production routes produce net electricity, which can substitute electricity required in other processes outside of the scope of this research. By including these allocation methods, the total land use breakdowns are constructed which indicate which processes, utilities or feedstocks are the most land-intensive for each SAF production route.



Figure 12 - Conversion model outline

3.2. Operationalization

3.2.1. Electricity production

All electricity consumed by the production routes is assumed to be produced by a combined solar and wind farm. The hybrid farm solely produces electricity for the bio-SAF or e-SAF processes, no other demand is fulfilled. The main input for the production routes is the electricity production potential, which is the amount of solar and wind energy which can be generated on a unit of land. These values are determined for both Spain and Poland, based on the annual electricity production of existing solar and wind farms in these countries. There is no findable data for combined solar and wind farms in these countries, so data on separate solar and wind farms is collected first and they are manually combined. Actual generation data of solar and wind farms is often not disclosed. Therefore, assumptions found in news articles and wind/solar farm reports are used. Production data of multiple farms is collected and combined into a database. The data of the best fitting solar and wind farms are taken for both Spain and Poland and combined into the electricity production potentials of hybrid farms.

The used data is annual and does not account for the varying volatility of solar and wind production. In reality, the production patterns of solar and wind energy vary across the year due to changing solar irradiation and wind speed, while the SAF conversion processes require a constant flow of electricity. Therefore, two scenarios are constructed for the supply and demand of electricity. In the optimistic scenario, it is assumed that the annual electricity production is evenly dispersed across the year and all produced electricity can be utilized by the conversion processes. The load factor of the SAF plant is not influenced by the electricity production of the hybrid farm. The option for battery storage is also added, where electricity can be stored temporary when production exceeds the demand. In the realistic scenario, it is assumed that the SAF plant only runs when the wind turbines or solar panels produce at full load. Therefore, the load factor of the SAF plant is equal to the load factor of the hybrid farm. In the situation that wind turbines and solar panels both produce at full load at the same time, it is assumed that a fraction of the electricity is curtailed. Therefore, the amount of electricity that can be utilized in the realistic scenario is substantially lower compared to the optimistic scenario. This method is also used by Fasihi et al. (2016) and Concawe (2022). The distinction between the optimistic and realistic scenario is only made for the e-SAF production routes, as the electricity requirement of bio-SAF routes is substantially lower. Only the optimistic scenario is included in the bio-SAF production routes.

The size values of production farms in terms of land are also collected. Land use data of solar farms is easily accessible, but there is no data for wind farms. Therefore, the investigated wind farms are looked up in Google Maps to measure the approximate surface area manually. As data is not available for combined solar and wind farms, a solar and wind farm array is designed based on the existing solar and wind farms. The array itself is based on research by Ludwig et al. (2020), see Figure 13. The area between turbines can be used for solar panels to increase the amount of electricity that can be produced on a unit of land, indicated by the blue area. Note that an area around the turbine cannot be used for solar PV production, as the wind turbine platform needs to be accessible for turbine maintenance. This area is also necessary to reduce shading on the solar panels caused by the turbine blades. The exact PV performance loss due to turbine shading is not clear at the moment, but Ludwig et al. (2020) does take shading into account.



Figure 13 - Combined solar and wind farm array (Ludwig et al., 2020)

The electricity production potential of the wind turbines is calculated by dividing the annual production of the investigated wind farms by the approximate surface area of the wind farm. Some of the larger investigated wind farms are split into multiple smaller wind farms which are not located in the same array. However, the available annual production data for these large wind farms is for all wind farm arrays combined. In that case, the annual production of the whole wind farm is first divided by the total amount of turbines, providing the annual production per turbine. This value is multiplied with the amount of turbines in one array which surface area can be easily measured, to obtain more realistic data.

Next, the electricity production potential of the solar farm needs to be determined. Ludwig et al. (2020) have researched the required distance of solar PV racks from the turbine platform, which they relate to the rotor diameter. The larger the rotor diameter, the larger the distance between PV racks and turbine platform needs to be. Ludwig et al. (2020) assumes a distance between PV rack and turbine of 50 meters for a turbine rotor diameter of 82 meters, it is assumed that this is a linear relationship. By converting this data into a distance factor, the distance between PV rack and turbine is calculated for each investigated wind farm. Next, the unusable area per turbine and for the whole turbine array can be calculated. The unusable area per turbine is assumed to be a square area around the turbine, its area is calculated by doubling the distance between PV rack and turbine (providing either the length or width of the unusable area) and multiplying this value by itself to end up with the unusable area per turbine. The total available area is calculated as shown in equation (7).

available area_{PV}[ha] = area_{wind farm} -
$$(n_{turbines in array} * (distance_{PV to turbine} * 2)^2)$$
 (7)

The electricity production potential of solar farms is calculated identically to that of wind farms. The surface area of the investigated solar farms are not manually measured, they are collected from the earlier mentioned news articles and/or solar farm reports. Next, the annual solar production of the PV panels in the combined solar and wind farm is calculated, taking into account performance loss due to turbine shading, see equation (8). All production values (MWh) are per year.

annual production_{PV in combined farm}[MWh]
=
$$EPP_{PV}\left[\frac{MWh}{ha}\right] * available area_{PV}[ha] * \left(1 - \frac{performance \ loss_{pv}(\%)}{100}\right)$$
 (8)

With EPP = electricity production potential

The total annual PV production needs to be converted into electricity production potential, but allocated to the surface area of the wind farm. Therefore, the annual production of the PV in the hybrid farm is divided by the area of the wind farm. Finally, the electricity production potentials of the solar PV and wind turbines are combined to end up with the total electricity production potential of the combined farm. In the optimistic scenario, a fraction of the produced electricity is lost due to the round trip efficiency of batteries.

The electricity loss due to battery storage is determined as shown in equation (9) and the electricity production potential for the optimistic scenario as shown in equation (10).

$$electricity \ loss_{battery} \left[\frac{MWh}{ha}\right] \\ = \left(EPP_{wind} \left[\frac{MWh}{ha}\right] + EPP_{PV} \left[\frac{MWh}{ha}\right]\right) * electricity \ stored[\%] \\ * \left(1 - \frac{\eta_{round \ trip}[\%]}{100}\right)$$
(9)

$$EPP_{hybrid \ farm, optimistic} \left[\frac{MWh}{ha} \right] = EPP_{wind} \left[\frac{MWh}{ha} \right] + EPP_{PV \ in \ combined \ farm} \left[\frac{MWh}{ha} \right] - electricity \ loss_{battery} \left[\frac{MWh}{ha} \right]$$
(10)

With $\eta_{round \ trip}$ = round trip efficiency of the battery

In the realistic scenario, a fraction of the produced electricity is lost due to curtailment. The electricity production potential for the realistic scenario is determined as shown in equation (11).

$$EPP_{hybrid\ farm,realistic} \left[\frac{MWh}{ha}\right] = \left(EPP_{wind} \left[\frac{MWh}{ha}\right] + EPP_{PV\ in\ combined\ farm} \left[\frac{MWh}{ha}\right]\right) \\ * \left(1 - \frac{curtailment[\%]}{100}\right)$$
(11)

3.2.2. Land use of SAF production routes

The first step is to determine the amount of feedstock required to produce the pre-determined amount of SAF. A capacity factor is included to account for the time in a year that the factory is not operating, necessary for maintenance for example. The amount of feedstock input is determined by taking into account all conversion efficiencies, from SAF distillation to feedstock pre-treatment. For bio-SAF and e-SAF, the feedstock input is determined as shown in equation (12). All mass values are per year.

$$biomass/CO_2 \ feedstock[kt] = \frac{production_{bio/e-SAF}[ktSAF] * load \ factor[\%]}{\eta_{pre-treatment} * \eta_{core \ conversion}}$$
(12)

The land use of biomass and CO₂ is determined as shown as equation (13) and (14) respectively.

$$LU_{biomass feedstock}[ha] = \frac{biomass feedstock[kt]}{biomass yield\left[\frac{kt}{ha}\right]}$$
(13)

With LU = land use

$$LU_{CO_2 feedstock}[ha] = \frac{CO_2 feedstock[kt]}{DAC \ yield\left[\frac{kt}{ha}\right]}$$
(14)

The utilities of bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes consist of hydrogen, electricity, low temperature (LT) and high temperature (HT) heat. HT heat is characterized as heat requiring temperatures higher than 150 °C, LT heat is below 150 °C. This distinction is only made for e-SAF, where LT heat is produced by industrial heat pumps and HT heat by hydrogen combustion. The amount of hydrogen required for HT heat production

is determined as shown in equation (15), where the HT heat requirement is divided by the product of the efficiency of the hydrogen boiler and the energy content of hydrogen. The heat required for bio-SAF is all produced by the combustion of low grade biomass, such as 2nd generation crops or residues (e.g. corn stover). The required amount of biomass is determined identically to hydrogen for HT heat production. The hydrogen required for the bio-SAF and e-SAF routes (including HT heat) is produced through electrolysis. The required amount of electricity is determined by multiplying the total required amount of hydrogen of a SAF production route with the electricity requirement of the electrolyzer. The industrial heat pumps which produce LT heat for the e-SAF routes also require renewable electricity. The electricity requirement is determined as shown in equation (16).

$$H_{2_{boiler}}[kt] = \frac{HR_{HT,net}[MWht]}{\eta_{H2\ boiler} * energy\ content_{H_2}} \frac{MWht}{kt}$$
(15)

$$ER_{heat \ pumps}[MWh] = \frac{HR_{LT,net}[MWht]}{COP_{heat \ pumps}\left[\frac{MWht}{MWh}\right]}$$
(16)

The land use of the required biomass for heat production in the bio-SAF production routes is determined similar to the land use of the biomass feedstocks. If biomass residues are used (e.g. corn stover), no additional land use is included. The land use of electricity production is determined by first calculating the total electricity requirement of each production route and dividing this by the electricity production potential, see equation (17). The total electricity requirement consists of the net electricity requirement of the conversion processes (pre-treatment & core conversion), hydrogen production and heat pumps. The total land use of electricity is dependent on the choice of the optimistic or realistic scenario.

$$LU_{electricity}[ha] = \frac{ER_{processes,net}[MWh] + ER_{H_2}[MWh] + ER_{heat\ pumps}[MWh]}{EPP_{hybrid\ farm,realistic/optimistic}\left[\frac{MWh}{ha}\right]}$$
(17)

Next, the avoided land use resulting from substitution at the point of substitution is determined. First, the amount of obtained rape meal and DDGS is calculated from the amount of biomass feedstock. Rape meal and DDGS have less nutritious value (less protein) compared to soy meal, so a substitution factor on mass basis is applied to determine the amount of soy meal that is substituted. This is divided by the soy meal yield from soy beans, see equation (18). The total amount of substituted soybean is divided by the soybean yield to obtain the total amount of avoided land due to substitution. It is assumed that the soybean is cultivated in Brazil.

$$soy \ bean[kt] = \frac{byproduct[kt] * SF_{soy \ meal-byproduct}\left[\frac{kt \ soy \ meal}{kt \ byproduct}\right]}{yield_{soy \ meal \ from \ soy \ bean}[\%]}$$
(18)
With SF = substitution factor

The same method is applied when a production route produces net electricity. The net amount of electricity is divided by the electricity production potential to obtain the amount of avoided land for additional electricity production for other end uses.

The total land use is determined by adding up the land use of feedstock production (biomass or CO₂), electricity production (for process electricity, hydrogen or heat) and additional biomass feedstock for heat production. The avoided land use for feed or electricity production is subtracted from the total land use. As this land is also used for other useful co-products, the total land use is allocated to only the produced SAF. This is done by energy allocation of all useful co-products and their energy contents, see equation (19). The total energy content of the produced SAF is divided by the sum of energy contents of all useful co-products within the process, including SAF. This is multiplied with the total land use of the production route to obtain the allocated land use for SAF only.

$$LU_{SAF,allocated}[ha] = LU_{total}[ha]$$

$$* \frac{production_{bio/e-SAF}[ktSAF] * energy \ content_{SAF}\left[\frac{MJ}{kt}\right]}{\sum production_{co-product}\left[kt\right] * energy \ content_{co-product}\left[\frac{MJ}{kt}\right]}$$

$$(19)$$

The final step is to construct the land use breakdowns, which shows the land uses of individual components within the production routes. By breaking the total land use down in components, the most land-intensive processes and utilities can be identified. This is done by calculating the land use of a single component, such as biomass cultivation or hydrogen required for the core conversion, and dividing by the total amount of produced SAF. As an abundant amount of electricity is required too, breakdowns are also constructed for the electricity requirement of each separate component.

3.3. Data collection

Only quantitative data is collected for this thesis. Most data is collected from academic studies using a techno-economic and/or life cycle analysis approach, for one of the five SAF production routes. Other data is obtained through free access models (mostly regarding e-fuel), models owned by the University of Utrecht and the remaining data is collected from news articles and free access databases (mostly 1st generation crop yields).

The vast majority of data is unique for each production route, but there is also data which is the same for all routes, see Table 1. The main input is the amount of SAF produced daily, or SAF throughput. The amount of SAF produced annually is determined by the throughput and the load factor, which is different for the optimistic and realistic route. Other data that is used in all production routes are technological parameters, such as the electricity consumption of the electrolyzer, the efficiency of the biomass and hydrogen boiler and the coefficient of performance (COP) of the industrial heat pump. Data for the allocation methods also falls under general data, such as the energy contents of co-products and soybean yield.

General data				
Production parameters	Spain	Poland		
SAF throughput	28.37 t/d	lay	Zech et al., 2018	
Load factor optimistic scenario	40 %		Assumption	
Load factor realistic scenario	22.4 %	13.8 %	Calculations	
Technology parameters				
Electrolyzer electricity consumption	53.4 MWh	/t H2	Oldenbroek et al., 2017	
Biomass boiler efficiency	80 %		Gupta et al., 2022	
Hydrogen boiler efficiency	80 %		Assumption	
COP industrial heat pump	2.94		Lu et al., 2022	
Allocation data				
Soybean yield	3.28 t/	у	Ritchie et al., 2022	
Soy meal yield from bean	0.8 t soy meal/t soy bean		Karlsson & Sund, 2016	
Energy content SAF	43.9 MJ/kg		Blok & Nieuwlaar, 2020	
Energy content diesel	43.4 MJ/kg		Blok & Nieuwlaar, 2020	
Energy content gasoline	44.8 MJ/kg		Blok & Nieuwlaar, 2020	
Energy content LPG	46.5 MJ/kg		Blok & Nieuwlaar, 2020	
Energy content naphtha	44.9 MJ/kg		Engineeringtoolbox, n.d.	
Energy content fuel gas	45.86 MJ	/kg	Staffell, 2011	

Table 1 - General input data

The input data for electricity production and the hybrid farm are shown in Table 2. The wind farms are located in Northern Spain (Aragon) and Northern Poland (Pomerania). These sites are selected due to the relatively high speeds compared to the rest of the country and as these farms have the best available data. The wind farms are shown in Figure 25 & Figure 26, see Appendix 3. The solar farms are located in the Southwest of Spain (Extremadura) and North of Poland (Pomerania). This Spanish solar farm is selected as it has the best available data of utility-scale solar farms in Spain, especially regarding land use. Although the solar farm is located in the Southwest (where higher solar irradiations are measured), the capacity factor is

similar to large scale solar farms in Northern Spain. Wind farms with turbines of similar capacity are selected; the turbine capacity of the Spanish wind farm is slightly larger. However, larger wind turbines generally require more space compared to smaller turbines, so it is expected that the difference in capacity does not have a large impact on the land use of the electricity production. It is notable that the wind farms have similar capacity factors, but there are large differences in the capacity factor of solar farms. For the hybrid farm, the distance of PV panels to turbines is used to determine the amount of land which can be utilized by PV panels. The value in Table 2 is used to calculate a factor which is multiplied with the larger turbine diameters of the Spanish & Polish wind farms. In the combined bio-SAF and e-SAF route, the available land for biomass cultivation between the turbines is calculated the same as for solar PV in the other routes.

Table 2 - Input data for electricity production

Electricity production			
Wind farm	Spain	Poland	
Site selection	Phoenix (Aguillon)	Potegowo (Głuszynko-g	grapice)
Total capacity	273 MW	55 MW	EVwind (2019); Power-
Capacity factor	42 %	40 %	Technology (2023)
Number of turbines	91	20	
Annual production	1000 GWh	192.3 GWh	Thinkproject (n.d.)
Turbine diameter	130 m	120 m	EVwind (2019); Power-
Turbine capacity	3 MW	2.75 MW	Technology (2023)
Number of turbines (for area calculation)	10	20	Google maps
Wind farm area (measured)	360 ha	600 ha	Google maps
Solar farm	Spain	Poland	
Site selection	Nunez de Balboa	Zwartowo	
Total capacity	500 MW	204 MW	Iberdrola (n.d.); Energy
Capacity factor	19 %	10 %	Institute (2022); Multiconsult
Annual production	832 GWh	178 GWh	(2022)
Solar farm area	1000 ha	311 ha	
Hybrid farm			
Distance PV to turbine	50 m for a turbine	with diameter of 82 m	Ludwig et al., 2020
PV performance loss due to shade	1	.7 %	Ludwig et al., 2020
Optimistic – electricity stored	ity stored 20 %		Assumption
Optimistic – round trip efficiency battery	8	5 %	Cole & Frazier, 2019
Realistic – average annual curtailment	1	0 %	Fasihi et al. (2016); Concawe
			(2022)

3.3.1. *HEFA*

The input data for the HEFA production route is shown in Table 3. Rapeseed yields are collected from a database, where the average of the past five years are taken as input value. The rapeseed yield in Poland is slightly larger compared to Spain. Rapeseed contains a similar amount of oil and rape meal, the remaining mass in the rapeseed is water. The heat required for HEFA processes is produced by the combustion of switchgrass, of which the yield is higher in Spain compared to Poland.

The efficiency of the oil extraction during pre-treatment is 94 %. The pre-treatment consists of rapeseed drying, oil extraction and oil refining, which require electricity and a substantial amount of heat. The core HEFA process has an efficiency of 86.4 % and produces diesel, naphtha and fuel gas fraction aside from SAF.

Table 3 - Input data HEFA production route

HEFA			
Biomass cultivation	Spain	Poland	Source
Rapeseed yield	2.23 t/ha	2.76 t/ha	Ritchie et al., 2022
Oil content in rapeseed	0.44 t oil/t rapeseed		Stephenson et al., 2008
Rape meal content in rapeseed	0.47 t rape meal/t rapeseed		Stephenson et al., 2008
Substitution factor soy meal/rape meal	0.86 t soy meal/t rape meal		D'Avino et al., 2015
Switchgrass yield	10.21 t/ha	8.65 t/ha	Vera et al., 2021
Switchgrass energy content	16.	2 MJ/kg	Mendu et al., 2011

Rapeseed pre-treatment					
Rapeseed oil extraction efficiency	0.94 t refined oil/t rapeseed oil	Gaber et al., 2018			
Drying heat requirement	102.78 kWht/t rapeseed	Malca et al., 2014			
Drying electricity requirement	5.56 kWh/t rapeseed	Malca et al., 2014			
Extraction heat requirement	254.9 kWht/t rapeseed	Gupta et al., 2022			
Extraction electricity requirement	43.9 kWh/t rapeseed	Gupta et al., 2022			
Refining heat requirement	133.1 kWh/t rapeseed oil	Gupta et al., 2022			
Refining electricity requirement	30 kWh/t rapeseed oil	Gupta et al., 2022			
Core HEFA process					
HEFA fuel yield from rapeseed oil	0.864 t HEFA/t refined oil	Zech et al., 2018			
SAF fraction in HEFA fuel	0.549 t SAF/t HEFA	Zech et al., 2018			
Diesel fraction in HEFA fuel	0.104 t diesel/t HEFA	Zech et al., 2018			
Naphtha fraction in HEFA fuel	0.285 t naphtha/t HEFA	Zech et al., 2018			
Fuel gas fraction in HEFA fuel	0.063 t fuel gas/t HEFA	Zech et al., 2018			
Hydrogen requirement	0.04 t H2/t rapeseed oil	Pearlson, 2011			
Heat requirement	124.17 kWht/t rapeseed oil	Zech et al., 2018			
Electricity requirement	37 kWh/t rapeseed oil	Zech et al., 2018			

3.3.2. *AtJ*

The input data for the AtJ(+) production route is shown in Table 4. Corn plant yields are collected in the same manner as rapeseed yields. Spain has a substantially higher corn yield compared to Poland. Approximately half of the harvested corn plant weight is corn grain, the other half is corn stover. In the AtJ route, corn stover is combusted in a biomass boiler to produce the required heat. The remaining corn stover is not utilized for other purposes.

The efficiency of fermentation and ethanol production is 33 %. The byproducts are DDGS and CO₂. The substitution factor of DDGS is smaller compared to rape meal, as its protein content is lower. The efficiency of the core AtJ process is 60 %. The produced AtJ fuel consists of a large SAF fraction, but also a diesel and gasoline fraction. The AtJ process is split into alcohol separation and the core process due to the large energy requirement of the alcohol separation. This entails removing the remaining part of ethanol (and water) which is not converted into ethylene.

In the AtJ+ production route, all the carbon in the initial biomass input is utilized. Corn stover is first used to produce the required heat by combustion in a boiler. The remaining corn stover is dried, gasified and processed into additional bio-SAF through the BtL route. The captured CO₂ from ethanol production is fed into a RWGS reactor and is upgraded to e-SAF through FTS.

Table 4 - Input data AtJ(+) production route

AtJ				
Biomass cultivation	Spain	Poland	Source	
Corn plant yield	11.71 t/ha	6.59 t/ha	Ritchie et al., 2022	
Corn grain yield from corn plant	0.50 t corn gr	ain/t corn plant	Farm energy, 2019	
Corn stover yield from corn plant	0.50 t corn sto	over/t corn plant	Farm energy, 2019	
Corn stover energy content	16.5	MJ/kg	Lizotte et al., 2015	
Fermentation & ethanol production				
Ethanol yield from corn	0.33 t ethan	ol/t corn grain	Wang et al., 2015	
DDGS yield from ethanol production	0.27 t DDGS	S/t corn grain	Wang et al., 2015	
Substitution factor DDGS/soy meal	0.32 t soy	meal/t DDGS	Wang et al., 2015	
CO2 emission ethanol production	0.96 t CO ₂ /t ethanol		Own calculation based on molar masses	
Fermentation heat requirement	1468.42 kV	Vht/t ethanol	Wang et al., 2015	
Fermentation electricity requirement	43.84 kW	'h/t ethanol	Wang et al., 2015	
Dry corn stover yield from drying	0.833 t dry corn s	stover/t corn stover	Swanson et al., 2010	
Corn stover drying electricity requirement	32 kWh/t feedstock		Hannula, 2016	
Core AtJ process				
AtJ fuel yield from ethanol	0.6 t AtJ fu	iel/t ethanol	Geleynse et al., 2018	
SAF fraction in AtJ fuel	0.7 t SAI	F/t AtJ fuel	Geleynse et al., 2018	

Diesel fraction in AtJ fuel	0.2 t diesel/t AtJ fuel	Geleynse et al., 2018
Gasoline fraction in AtJ fuel	0.1 t gasoline/t AtJ fuel	Geleynse et al., 2018
Hydrogen requirement	0.0154 t H ₂ /t SAF	Geleynse et al., 2018
Alcohol separation heat requirement	4512.62 kWht/t SAF	Geleynse et al., 2018
Alcohol separation electricity	61.73 kWh/t SAF	Geleynse et al., 2018
requirement		
AtJ core heat requirement	3301.03 kWht/t SAF	Geleynse et al., 2018
AtJ core electricity requirement	449.6 kWh/t SAF	Geleynse et al., 2018

3.3.3. BtL

The input data for the BtL production route is shown in Table 5. The switchgrass yields are collected from the database of Vera et al. (2021). Spain has slightly higher switchgrass yields compared to Poland. The moisture content (and weight) is decreased by drying the switchgrass, which requires electricity.

The efficiency of gasification and FTS is 13 %. Not all the carbon content of the pre-treated switchgrass is converted into CO during gasification, a fraction of the carbon ends up in char and ash which are collected at the bottom of the gasifier. The char is fed into a cyclone and is combusted to provide the necessary heat to dry the switchgrass (Swanson et al., 2010). As FTS and other BtL processes do not require heat, there is no additional heat input required. The FT product consists mainly of SAF, a small fraction of naphtha is also produced. Unconverted syngas and fuel gas (one of the side products from FTS) are collected and fed into a gas turbine to produce electricity. It is assumed that this electricity can be used to power the other energy-intensive processes, such as air separation and syngas cleaning.

Table 5 - Input data BtL production route

BtL			
Switchgrass cultivation	Spain	Poland	Source
Switchgrass yield	10.21 t/ha	8.65 t/ha	Vera et al., 2021
Switchgrass pre-treatment			
Dry feedstock yield	83	wt%	Swanson et al., 2010
Pre-treatment heat requirement ^a	0 kWht/t d	ry switchgrass	Swanson et al., 2010
Pre-treatment electricity requirement	32 kWh/t d	ry switchgrass	Hannula, 2016
Gasification & FTS			
FT product yield from dry feedstock	0.13 t FT product/t dry switchgrass		Diederichs, 2015
SAF fraction in FT product	0.768 t SAF/t FT product		Diederichs, 2015
Naphtha fraction in FT product	0.232 t napht	ha/t FT product	Diederichs, 2015
Hydrogen requirement	0.03 t H ₂ /t SAF		Diederichs, 2015
Electricity requirement ASU	1073.01 kWh/t SAF		Swanson et al., 2010
Electricity requirement syngas cleaning	259.41 kWh/t SAF		Swanson et al., 2010
Electricity requirement hydroprocessing	247.62	kWh/t SAF	Swanson et al., 2010
Electricity production gasification + FTS	3702.49	kWh/t SAF	Swanson et al., 2010

^aHeat requirement is 0 kWh/t as the heat is provided by combustion of gasification products

3.3.4. Methanol upgrading (E-MeOH)

The input data for the e-MeOH production route is shown in Table 6. CO₂ is captured with DAC, which requires a substantial amount of (LT) heat and electricity. The efficiency of CO₂ hydrogenation to create methanol (MeOH) is 69 %. This process also requires a substantial amount of hydrogen, (LT) heat and electricity. The efficiency of the MTO/MOGD process is 44 %. Aside from SAF, the MTO/MOGD fuel mix also contains a diesel, gasoline, LPG and fuel gas fraction. A substantially smaller amount of hydrogen is required for the MTO/MOGD process compared to the CO₂ hydrogenation.

The e-MeOH production process requires two types of heat, LT heat for the DAC units (< 150° C) and HT heat (150 – 350° C) for the MTO/MOGD process. The HT heat is supplied by hydrogen boilers. CO₂ hydrogenation and the MTO/MOGD process both produce a substantial amount of LT waste heat in the form of steam, which can be used to provide heat for the LT DAC. The remaining heat demand is provided by LT industrial heat pumps which require electricity input.

Table 6 - Input data e-MeOH production route

e-MeOH			
LT DAC	Spain	Poland	Source
CO ₂ yield	50064.70 t CO	2/ha	Ozkan et al., 2022
Heat requirement DAC (< 150°C)	3310 kWht/t	CO ₂	Sabatino et al., 2021
Electricity requirement DAC	720 kWh/t (202	Sabatino et al., 2021
Methanol production			
Methanol yield from CO ₂	0.69 t MeOH/1	: CO2	Meunier et al., 2020
Hydrogen requirement	0.203 t H2/t M	leOH	Meunier et al., 2020
Electricity requirement CO ₂	387.8 kWh/t M	1eOH	Meunier et al., 2020
hydrogenation			
Heat production CO ₂ hydrogenation (<	330 kWht/t MeOH		Meunier et al., 2020
150°C)			
Methanol upgrading to SAF			
MTO/MOGD yield from methanol	0.4416 t fuel/t	МеОН	Ruokonen et al., 2021
SAF fraction in MTO/MOGD fuel	0.27 t SAF/t	fuel	Ruokonen et al., 2021
Diesel fraction in MTO/MOGD fuel	0.45 t diesel/t	fuel	Ruokonen et al., 2021
Gasoline fraction in MTO/MOGD fuel	0.17 t gasoline,	/t fuel	Ruokonen et al., 2021
LPG fraction in MTO/MOGD fuel	0.04 t LPG/t	fuel	Ruokonen et al., 2021
Fuel gas fraction in MTO/MOGD fuel	0.07 t fuel gas/t fuel		Ruokonen et al., 2021
Hydrogen requirement	0.0206 t H2/t SAF		Ruokonen et al., 2021
Heat requirement (> 150°C)	2264.04 kWht/t SAF		Ruokonen et al., 2021
Electricity requirement	320.22 kWh/t SAF		Ruokonen et al., 2021
Heat production (< 150°C)	6216.29 kWht/	't SAF	Ruokonen et al., 2021

3.3.5. Fischer-Tropsch (E-FT)

The input data for the e-FT production route is shown in Table 7. Feedstock production (CO_2) is identical to the e-MeOH production route. The efficiency of the RWGS is 61 %. The process also requires hydrogen, HT heat and electricity. The efficiency of the FTS is 51 %. More than half of the FT product consists of SAF-range hydrocarbons, diesel makes up for the remaining fraction. FTS requires a substantial amount of hydrogen and some electricity. The production route does not produce waste heat, so all LT heat is produced by heat pumps and all HT heat by hydrogen combustion.

Table 7 – Input data e-FT production route

e-FT			
LT DAC	Spain	Poland	Source
CO2 yield	50064.70 t CC	50064.70 t CO ₂ /y/ha	
Heat requirement DAC (< 150°C)	3310 kWht/	't CO ₂	Sabatino et al., 2021
Electricity requirement DAC	720 kWh/t	CO ₂	Sabatino et al., 2021
RWGS			
CO yield from CO ₂	0.61 t CO/t	CO ₂	Terwel & Kerkhoven, 2018
Hydrogen requirement	0.07 t H2/1	t CO	Terwel & Kerkhoven, 2018
Heat requirement (> 150°C)	510.72 kWh	/t CO	Terwel & Kerkhoven, 2018
Electricity requirement	110.90 kWh/t CO		Terwel & Kerkhoven, 2018
FTS			
FT product yield from CO	0.51 t FT produ	uct/t CO	Terwel & Kerkhoven, 2018
Jet fuel fraction in FT product	0.61 t SAF/t FT	product	Terwel & Kerkhoven, 2018
Diesel fraction in FT product	0.39 t diesel/t F	Г product	Terwel & Kerkhoven, 2018
Hydrogen requirement	0.49 t H2/t SAF		Terwel & Kerkhoven, 2018
Electricity requirement	401.13 kWh/t SAF		Terwel & Kerkhoven, 2018

4. Results

4.1. Land use breakdowns

Figure 14 shows the land use breakdown of bio-SAF production routes. Biomass cultivation is the largest contributor to the total land use of the bio-SAF production routes. Heat, electricity and hydrogen demand are almost negligible, they are hardly visible in the land use breakdowns. Avoided land use for soy meal production due to feed substitution (either by rape meal or DDGS) does have a substantial impact on the total land use of the production routes. The net land uses of bio-SAF routes are indicated by the black triangles in Figure 14.

The net land use ranges from ± 400 ha/kt SAF for the AtJ+ production route in Spain, to ± 1350 ha/kt SAF for the AtJ production route in Poland. The other options have a land use between 600 and 1100 ha/kt SAF. The AtJ+ production route (Spain) scores best as all the carbon from corn is utilized and the yield of corn in Spain is the highest of all investigated crops. The inclusion of corn stover utilization and CCU leads to a land use efficiency almost twice as large as AtJ with just corn fermentation. The least land use efficient production route is the AtJ route in Poland, mainly due to low corn yields in the country. Poland shows potential for the HEFA production route, which is the second best bio-SAF production route in terms of land use. This is due to the high conversion efficiency of the HEFA route and large land substitution effect (caused by the high nutritious value of rape meal compared to soy meal). The substitution effect in the AtJ routes is smaller due to the lower nutritious value of DDGS. HEFA in Poland is more land use efficient than in Spain as rape meal yields are higher in the former country, unlike with corn cultivation. The HEFA production route requires a small amount of land for switchgrass cultivation, which is used for heat provision. This is not the case for the AtJ route, as a part of the corn stover is combusted to provide heat for the processes. The BtL route also does not require land for heat provision, as its processes only require electricity and hydrogen. BtL in Spain and Poland shows average results in terms of land use efficiency, switchgrass has relatively high yields in Spain and Poland but the conversion efficiency is the lowest of all production routes. The BtL routes produce surplus electricity in the gasification plant, but its substitution effect is negligible as this surplus is cancelled out by the additional electricity requirements for hydrogen production.



Figure 14 - Land use breakdown of bio-SAF production routes

The land use breakdowns of the e-SAF production routes are shown in Figure 15, only those in the realistic electricity provision scenario are shown. The differences between the scenarios are relatively small, the optimistic scenario shows slightly higher land use efficiencies for all production routes, see Figure 27 in Appendix 5. The realistic scenario is preferred over the optimistic scenario due to its more reserved assumptions in electricity supply. Similar to the results of the two scenarios, there are also small differences between the land use efficiencies of the e-MeOH and e-FT production routes. The e-SAF production routes range from 33 ha/kt SAF for the location in Spain to 42 ha/kt SAF in Poland. This is due to the larger electricity production potential, there is more solar irradiation in Spain. The e-MeOH route is slightly more land use efficient compared to the e-FT route. For both production routes, the electricity requirement for hydrogen production is the largest contributor to total land use, indicated by the blue segments in Figure

15. For the e-FT production route, the hydrogen land use of the FTS process is substantially larger than the hydrogen land use of the RWGS, due to its higher hydrogen requirement. The second largest is the heat demand, which consists of LT heat (for DAC) and HT heat for the core conversion processes. In both production routes, the LT heat requires more land than HT heat. The land use of DAC (the plant and the electricity requirement for DAC) is slightly smaller and the land requirement of electricity for the core processes (yellow segment) is almost negligible. The latter entails the electricity use required to power the main conversions of CO_2 into SAF. The land use of DAC is almost fully allocated to the electricity requirement of the DAC plant is negligibly small.

The combined route consists of the e-FT production route in combination with AtJ+, the best performing bio-SAF route. E-FT is chosen over e-MeOH in the combined route as the AtJ+ route also uses FTS. The land use of the combined e-SAF and bio-SAF is more than twice as high compared to the e-SAF only routes. Its land use ranges from 73 ha/kt SAF for Spain to 83 ha/kt SAF for Poland. Land use for hydrogen and heat production in the combined route is substantially higher compared to those of the e-SAF only route. Hydrogen and heat in the combined route are all produced with electricity. As there is no solar electricity included in the combined route, the electricity production potential is substantially lower compared to the hybrid farm of the e-SAF production routes. The combined route produces more fuel compared to the individual e-MeOH or e-FT route, but more land is required to provide the necessary utilities to produce the same amount of SAF. Approximately 75 % of the SAF is produced from CO₂ in the e-FT route, the other 25 % is produced from the corn and stover. As corn is grown on the land between the wind turbines with DDGS as byproduct, there is a decrease in total land due to the substitution of soy meal. Due to corn stover gasification, the production route also includes avoided land uses are not substantial enough to make the land use of the combined route competitive with the land use of e-SAF only.



Figure 15 – Land use breakdowns of e-SAF production routes in realistic electricity provision scenario.

The results of the bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes in Figure 14 and Figure 15 respectively show that e-SAF routes are approximately 10-20 times more land use efficient than bio-SAF routes. The main driver for this substantial difference is the carbon feedstock for bio/e-SAF. Where biomass is harvest once a year and has relatively low yields, DAC continuously collects substantial amounts of CO_2 on a relatively small amount of land. The bio-SAF routes generally have higher conversion efficiencies from feedstock to SAF, but these do not outweigh the low feedstock yield per year. Hydrogen is by far the largest contributor to total land use of e-SAF routes, but its contribution is 20 to 30 times as small as the cultivation of biomass. AtJ+ in Spain has the lowest land use of all bio-SAF routes, which is a factor 10 larger than the land use of e-MeOH and e-FT route.

4.2. Electricity requirement breakdown

Although e-SAF production routes have substantially smaller land uses compared to bio-SAF routes, they do use large amounts of renewable electricity for especially hydrogen and heat production. As the demand for renewable electricity in most energy end sectors (e.g. transport, residential heating and power supply)

increases, renewable electricity also becomes a scarce resource. An electricity requirement breakdown is shown in Figure 16. E-SAF routes require 5 – 30 times the amount of electricity compared to bio-SAF, depending on the production route. In all routes, hydrogen production is the largest contributor to total electricity consumption. Moreover, the electricity requirement of pre-treatment and core conversion is negligibly small. The AtJ+ route requires the most electricity of all bio-SAF routes, due to its additional hydrogen requirement for CO_2 upgrading to SAF through FTS. The AtJ route requires the least amount of electricity, the pre-treatment of corn and main conversions require substantially more heat compared to electricity. The BtL route requires more electricity than AtJ, but also produces electricity by combusting gasification products. The electricity production cancels out the electricity requirement, leading to a net electricity production in the full route.

The combined route of e-FT and AtJ+ requires the least amount of electricity per unit of e-SAF. The total electricity requirement of the combined route is larger compared to the individual e-SAF routes due to the added pre-treatment of corn and conversion into SAF, but the impact of this increase is relatively small compared to the additional SAF production. In all e-SAF routes, hydrogen production (also for heat) is by far the largest contributor to total electricity requirement. Where hydrogen required for pre-treatment (CO₂ hydrogenation) is the largest contributor in the e-MeOH route, hydrogen has a substantially larger impact in the core conversion (FTS) of the e-FT route. The share of DAC and LT heat in both production routes are substantially smaller, but still significant.



Figure 16 - Electricity requirement breakdown of bio/e-SAF production routes

4.3. Sensitivity analysis

The differences between the land use and electricity requirement of bio-SAF and e-SAF are evidently large, but the data and assumptions they are based on are uncertain. As most technologies and process combinations are novel and in need of more development, input data and results can deviate substantially from real data in the future. Therefore, sensitivity analyses are carried out for the most influential variables to indicate the robustness of the model and its input data. A range of values from different studies for the most influential variables is obtained during the desk research of this thesis. The ranges are shown in Table 8 in Appendix 4. The lowest and highest found values for each variable are taken as the boundaries for the sensitivity analysis. The black lines indicate the base value for each production route.

Land use of bio-SAF

The sensitivity analysis of land use of the bio-SAF production routes is shown in Figure 17. The biomass cultivation and conversion of biomass into SAF are the most significant contributors to land use of bio-SAF routes, so biomass yields and conversion efficiencies from feedstock to SAF are varied in the sensitivity analysis. The conversion efficiency is indicated by the orange bar, the biomass yield by the green bar and the combined effect by the black and white bar. The bars show how much the total land use of a bio-SAF route can vary by changing the base value of one variable to the maximum or minimum found value in literature.



Figure 17 - Sensitivity analysis land use bio-SAF production routes

The total land use of HEFA is hardly influenced by varying the conversion efficiency, in both the case of Spain and Poland. The HEFA processes is the most mature and has the highest conversion efficiency of all production routes, so there are only small changes in conversion efficiency in literature. However, biomass yield has a large impact on the total land use, as rapeseed has the lowest yield of any biomass crop studied in this thesis. The lower boundaries of Spain and Poland show similar magnitudes of impact on total land use, but the high boundary of Spain is a lot more extreme. Rapeseed yields have varied substantially over the last few decades in Spain; the average yield in 2020 was 2.74 t/ha but only 1.21 t/ha in 2005. The latter yield is more than twice as small as the former, indicating the huge impact of a bad harvest year on the total land use of HEFA.

Varying conversion efficiency and biomass yield have a similar impact on the total land use of AtJ in Spain. The conversion efficiency variation is based on an assumed percentual change of \pm 10 %, due to lack of data in literature. The biomass yield boundaries are based on the best and worst biomass harvest, similar to the HEFA route. The impact of biomass yield on the total land use of Poland has a larger impact compared to the conversion efficiency, especially the high boundary. Similar to rapeseed cultivation, this value is based on the worst harvest of the 21st century. If a bad corn harvest is combined with a lower conversion efficiency, the total land use in the Polish case almost doubles in size compared to the base value. This impact can also be seen in the Spanish case of HEFA.

The bar of conversion efficiency in the AtJ+ route contains the influence of the corn to SAF conversion efficiency, the corn stover to SAF efficiency and CO₂ to SAF efficiency. The impacts of the total conversion efficiency is smaller compared to the impact in the regular AtJ route, especially for Spain. This is also visible for the biomass yield and is due to the fact that the overall land use of the AtJ+ routes is smaller compared to the regular AtJ route. With the most optimistic conditions, the total land use of the AtJ+ route in Spain can decrease to 275 ha/kt SAF. The AtJ+ route in Poland can also compete with HEFA in Poland an regular AtJ in Spain with the highest possible conversion efficiency and biomass yield. However, bad harvests have a substantial negative impact on total land use as well.

In contrary to the other routes, the conversion efficiency has a substantially larger impact on total land use in the BtL routes compared to biomass yield. The base conversion yield of the BtL route is the lowest of all bio-SAF routes but the possible minimum and maximum value differ substantially from the base conversion efficiency, while the base biomass yield is high for both Spain and Poland with minimal changes for the lower and higher boundary. This shows that the BtL route is mostly dependent on technological developments, and less on agricultural developments or occasional bad harvests. BtL in Spain is slightly more land use efficient and also has a competitive total land use when comparing to HEFA in Poland and AtJ(+) in Spain. Therefore, BtL is a good alternative to consider when 1st generation biomass cultivation for fuel production is not allowed due to policy restrictions for instance. This is especially true for Spain, as a substantial amount of marginal land could be utilized for the production of SAF.

Land use of e-SAF

The sensitivity analysis of land use of the e-SAF production routes is shown in Figure 18. Similar to the bio-SAF sensitivity analysis, the conversion efficiency is included. Other included variables are the electricity production potential of the hybrid farm (or only wind in the case of e-FT & AtJ+), electricity consumption of the electrolyzer and the amount of electricity curtailment. In the combined route, curtailment is included as electricity is only generated with wind farms. Instead, the corn yield is included as variable.



Figure 18 - Sensitivity analysis land use e-SAF production routes

It is visible that the sensitivity results of the e-MeOH and e-FT routes are quite similar for each country. The impacts of varying the conversion efficiency, electrolyzer consumption and curtailment are almost identical. The lower and higher boundaries have similar impacts on the total land use change, as they are based assumed percentual changes. This is the case for the conversion efficiencies and curtailment of the e-MeOH and e-FT routes as there is a lack of data in literature to create a range. The hydrogen consumption of the electrolyzer is not based on a percentual change but the optimistic and pessimistic value have similar distances to the base value. The electricity production potential is the largest contributor to total land use changes, caused by the divergent production potentials of the investigated solar and wind farms. In the most optimistic scenario, the e-MeOH route in Spain has the lowest total land use of 11 ha/kt SAF. This is 25 times as small as the land use of 63.5 ha/kt SAF in the most pessimistic scenario.

The combined route shows similar results to those of the individual e-SAF routes. The variation in conversion efficiency and biomass yield have small impacts on the total land use. The impact of the electrolyzer consumption is slightly larger compared to the impact in the individual e-SAF routes, as additional hydrogen is required for the AtJ+ processes. The conversion efficiency only includes the efficiency of the e-FTS process, as the conversion efficiencies of the AtJ+ processes have small impacts on the total land use of the combined route. The variation in electricity production potential has the largest impact on total land use, especially for Spain. This is due to an outlier in the data, which is a wind farm that produces substantially more electricity per area unit compared to large land use decreases in both the combined and individual e-SAF routes. The combined route in Spain can reach a land use of 23 ha/kt SAF in the most optimistic scenario, allowing it to compete with the individual e-SAF routes. The combined route is a viable option in areas where there is a relatively low solar irradiation, but high corn yield, such as

Germany. If 1st generation biomass cultivation is not an option, wind farms can also be combined with switchgrass cultivation and BtL as this bio-SAF route is a good alternative when utilizing marginal lands.

5. Discussion

Limitations and uncertainties

The main limitation of this thesis is the assumption that land is only used for one purpose; the production of SAF. This is especially true for the e-SAF production routes, which require substantial amounts of hydrogen, renewable electricity and heat. The model assumes that electrolyzers, hybrid farms, DAC units, heat pumps and boilers solely produce utilities for e-SAF processes, but these utilities are also used for other end uses in reality. For instance, electricity produced by hybrid farms is injected into national grids first and distributed to multiple sectors, instead of only being fed into the processes of an e-SAF plant. Bio-SAF has a similar situation, as 1st generation biomass is also used for food & feed and biomass can also be used for other energy end uses. The aviation sector is not the only sector that is difficult to de-fossilize. Renewable hydrogen and carbon (from biomass or DAC) are also required for the production of other chemicals and marine fuels. Therefore, other end uses will compete with SAF production in terms of (scarce) land and utilities, but the model does not address these issues.

Another limitation is the modelling of electricity supply and demand. In the optimistic scenario, the model assumes that the hybrid solar and wind plant can supply electricity to the SAF plant whenever it is needed. However, this assumption is unrealistic due to the volatile nature of solar and wind energy, which results in an inconsistent power output. In reality, multiple components of the SAF production routes require electricity at the same time, including DAC, pre-treatment, core processes, heat pumps and electrolyzers, which produce hydrogen for core processes and hydrogen boilers. The model simplifies the electricity provision and does not match the volatile production with the constant demand of the processes. Additionally, the model simplifies the modelling of individual components. In reality, electrolyzers run at a minimum load to retain safety, the quality of the hydrogen gas and conversion efficiencies. The same is true for DAC, as it is most cost-efficient to run DAC plants as much as possible. However, these principles are not applied as the model is not based on a time series. To address these limitations, the load factor of the e-SAF plant and its individual components is decreased to match the hybrid plant's load factor, and electricity curtailment is added to account for excess production. However, the model still lacks the capability to accurately match the supply and demand of electricity at each time, and the amount of curtailment is based on assumptions rather than empirical data. This is not implemented in the bio-SAF production routes, as they are substantially less dependent on electricity.

The electricity production potentials used for solar and wind farms are based on reported production data from news articles, instead of actual data. Real annual solar and wind output data is often not disclosed, which is also the case for the investigated areas of this thesis. Local differences in solar and wind potentials within countries are also not taken into account due to lack of data. The comparison of wind farms is also debatable, as the electricity production potential is highly dependent on the wind speed (which varies per location and hub height), type of turbine, the layout of the windfarm and how the occupied area of the wind farm is measured. The latter is measured manually with Google Maps, which is prone to human error and is debatable as other research could decide to include more or less land around wind turbines. Lastly, the potential of hybrid solar and wind farms is under debate, as the shadow of wind turbine blades could have an impact on the power output of solar panels. This thesis assumes the effect to be almost negligible, but few studies have been consulted for the combination of solar and wind energy. TNO is currently researching this effect, but results are not publicly available yet (TNO, 2021).

In addition to the limitations of the modeling aspect of this thesis, there are also limitations related to land use and its connection to the conversion model. While this thesis acknowledges the difference between arable and marginal land for fuel production, it does not provide a quantitative assessment of the available land for SAF production in Europe. Without this information, it is difficult to determine if there is enough land available in the researched countries and Europe as a whole to meet GHG emission reduction goals in the aviation sector. Furthermore, the land is also needed for feedstocks and production of other chemicals and marine fuels. However, rough estimates and recommendations for possible locations for SAF production in Europe are given.

Theoretical and practical implications

The results evidently show that e-SAF production routes use a factor 10-20 less land per unit of fuel compared to bio-SAF production routes. This is in line with prior studies such as Malins (2017) and Nova-Institute (2020), which claim that renewable electricity production (specifically solar) is substantially more

land use efficient compared to the cultivation of biomass for fuel production. However, these studies only state the theoretical land use of e-fuels and biofuels, but fail to assess other aspects which are important to take into account when comparing e-fuels and biofuels. For instance, the results of this thesis show that the e-SAF production routes require a factor 5-30 more renewable electricity compared to the bio-SAF routes. Although the global installed renewable capacity is steadily increasing each year (IEA, 2021), it is struggling to keep up with the increasing electrification of demand (IEA, 2022b). Not only the electricity demand of SAF is expected to increase, substantial amounts of electricity will also be required for electric vehicles in the transport sector, heat pumps in the residential sector and energy-intensive processes in industry. The competition for renewable electricity leads to increased electricity prices (IEA, 2022b) which can subsequently lead to higher costs and slower developments of (especially e-) SAF.

Prior studies assume that e-fuel plant processes are continuously supplied by renewable power produced by solar and wind farms, but this is not a realistic scenario. In practice, e-fuel plants are in need of CO_2 and hydrogen storage (and possibly additional batteries) to ensure a constant fuel production and a full utilization of available electricity. This leads to increased complexity when it comes to the construction and efficient operation of a large scale e-fuel plant. Moreover, these implications also lead to substantially higher costs compared to biofuels, which are further in development. Most essential components of e-SAF production, such as DAC, electrolyzers and the e-fuel plant itself, are under development and will be for the next few decades.

Ultimately, the lower land use alone does not make e-SAF (and e-fuels in general) a better alternative compared to bio-SAF. In instances where little renewable electricity is available but surplus land is abundant, bio-SAF production routes could be a better option and vice versa for e-SAF production routes. E-SAF production routes are expected to see large developments in technology in the future, but defossilizing efforts in the aviation sector should be made in the meantime. Bio-SAF routes could serve as the necessary transition technologies in the next decades, especially in areas with available marginal and surplus land. HEFA and AtJ are the most promising as they have the lowest land use, but their performance are highly dependent on the location. Moreover, as much carbon as possible should be converted into useful products, as the AtJ+ route shows a substantial decrease in land use compared to the regular AtJ route. Aside from production routes with 1st generation feedstocks, the BtL route also shows good potential for SAF production. BtL is beneficial as many different feedstocks can be used, the route is less dependent on geographical location and marginal lands can be utilized. Towards 2050, e-SAF production routes could play a more dominant role as costs decrease and renewable electricity and hydrogen are more abundant. Routes which combine e-SAF and bio-SAF production are also expected to be promising, as these use less electricity in exchange for a slightly higher land use. This also includes a full utilization of marginal lands, by combining e-SAF production with bio-SAF production from 2nd generation biomass. In the end, the choice between bio-SAF and e-SAF is dependent on the choice between two scarce resources: land and renewable electricity. Future assessment of SAF production routes should be done on a case-by-case basis, as the use and availability of land and renewable electricity are highly dependent on location.

The question arises if enough land is available in Spain and Poland to produce enough SAF to meet current jet fuel and future SAF demand. The annual jet fuel demand in 2019 was 6900 kt in Spain and 1077¹ kt in Poland (Statista, 2023a; The Global Economy, 2021). In Spain, 2.7 million hectares are required to produce the jet fuel demand of 2019 with AtJ+ and 230 thousand hectares with e-MeOH. In Poland, 670 thousand hectares are needed with HEFA and 45 thousand hectares with e-MeOH. The amount of arable land in Spain is approximately 11.8 million hectares and 11 million hectares in Poland (Macrotrends, 2023a; Macrotrends, 2023b). The best performing bio-SAF production routes would require 22 % and 6 % of all agricultural land in Spain and Poland respectively, to fulfill the current jet fuel demand. The amount of marginal lands is assumed to be of equal size as arable lands. E-SAF production requires approximately 2 % of marginal land in Spain and 0.4 % in Poland. In both the bio-SAF and e-SAF case, there would theoretically be enough land. However, especially the scenario of bio-SAF is unlikely as arable land is also required for food production and other energy uses which require biomass feedstocks in the future. The report by E4tech (2021) states that 40 million ton SAF can be produced by 2050. If this demand would be supplied by bio-SAF in Spain or Poland alone, 15.5 million hectares of arable land is required in Spain or 24.4 million hectares in Poland. For e-SAF, 1.3 million hectares in Spain or 1.6 million hectares in Poland would be required, which are still significant quantities.

¹ The initial value is in thousand barrels jet fuel per day, this has been converted into kt jet fuel with a conversion factor mentioned in an article by BP (2021).

Future research

Future studies can build on the methods and results of this thesis in numerous ways. The main recommendation is to expand the modelling of electricity supply and demand of SAF production processes. A time series model is able to match hourly renewable electricity supply to the demand of multiple processes within a bio-SAF or an e-SAF plant. To ensure full utilization of the produced renewable electricity by solar or wind farms, hydrogen and CO₂ storages can be added, as well as additional batteries if required. Time series modelling does require specific input data for the demand of processes and supply by hybrid solar and wind farms, so specific locations with disclosed data need to be chosen. Aside from the assumption that all produced electricity is available, which would otherwise be curtailed. As electricity is also used for other end uses, this type of modelling creates a better reflection of reality. These two types of models also improve the determination of the capacity and the size of hybrid solar and wind farms, which is a substantial contributor to land use and total costs. It is expected that relatively more land is required for electricity production in these types of models, but the sensitivity analysis has shown that an increase in curtailment only slightly increases the total land use of e-SAF routes. Therefore, time series modelling will not turn the tide for bio-SAF when it comes to which production routes require the least amount of land.

Another recommendation is to include other types of renewable alternatives in aviation in the future, such as electric propulsion and hydrogen fuel. Although they are left out of this thesis due to low maturity, they are expected to play a role in time. Other important factors, such as costs and CO₂ emissions, have already been researched for bio-SAF and e-SAF. These studies can also be carried out for electric propulsion and hydrogen and their results can be combined with the findings of this thesis and prior research on bio-SAF and e-SAF for a complete and holistic outlook on sustainable aviation alternatives. Technical complexities and other environmental impacts, aside from GHG emissions, should also be included, such as water usage, air pollution and impacts on ecosystems et cetera.

The model could also be improved by expanding the scope of the SAF production chain, such as the feedstock production and transport. For instance, fertilizers and harvesting are left out of the model but have an impact on biomass yield, costs and the environment. Moreover, many more feedstocks and technology options can be included for the conversion routes. For instance, there are multiple 1st and 2nd generation feedstock which can be utilized, especially in other regions in the world. Sugar beet is excluded from this thesis due to the lack of data but generally has higher yields per hectare compared to corn, also in colder climates. Aside from BtL, 2nd generation feedstocks can also be used in the other production routes in the future, although these are not mature pathways. For instance, jatropha can be used in the HEFA route or lignocellulose can be converted into sugars and further processed into AtJ fuel. Other technology options can range from industrial electric (HT) heating, to other carbon capture technologies and less land-intensive electricity generation such as nuclear energy.

A final recommendation is to create a stronger link between the model and available land for SAF (and other renewable fuels/chemicals) production. In this thesis, the amount of land required for a certain amount of SAF production is determined. In future research, the amount of available land for SAF production can be quantified, after satisfying other demands such as food, feed, renewable power, electrified heat & transport and other renewable carbon-based fuels & chemicals. This should be studied by including other regions aside from Europe to assess global potentials, also taking into account possible (I)LUC and social issues, such as energy security.

6. Conclusion

This research has aimed to assess the land use of multiple production routes for bio-SAF and e-SAF in the EU, by building a model including all conversion processes and required utilities. Case studies for Spain and Poland are carried out, to indicate the influence of geographical location on the land use of SAF production.

The results show that e-SAF production routes are 10 - 20 times more land use efficient when comparing to bio-SAF routes. This large difference is due to the fact that biomass is harvested only once a year and has relatively low yields per hectare, while CO₂ capture by DAC and electricity production by hybrid farms can take place all year long. The e-MeOH production route has a land use of 33.19 ha/kt SAF in Spain and 42.14 ha/kt SAF in Poland, the e-FT route has a land use of 33.43 ha/kt SAF in Spain and 42.44 ha/kt SAF in Poland. The e-MeOH route is slightly more land use efficient due to higher conversion efficiencies and lower hydrogen requirements. The land use of e-SAF production in Spain is lower compared to Poland, as the hybrid solar & wind farm produces more electricity per hectare. Wind energy potentials of Spain and Poland are similar, but the solar irradiation in Spain is substantially higher.

For bio-SAF, the land use ranges from 395.62 ha/kt SAF for the AtJ+ route in Spain to 1368.02 ha/kt SAF for the regular AtJ route in Poland. The HEFA route in Poland and regular AtJ route in Spain have the most competitive land uses after AtJ+, at 622.50 ha/kt SAF and 697.43 ha/kt SAF respectively. These routes score best due to relatively high corn yields in Spain and high conversion efficiency of the HEFA conversion processes. The difference in land use of AtJ and AtJ+ shows the importance of fully utilizing all the carbon in the feedstock. The land use of bio-SAF routes is dominated by the land use of biomass cultivation, components such as hydrogen and other utilities have minimal impact. The sensitivity analysis also shows that a difference in biomass yield (due to bad or good harvest) has a substantial impact on the total land use. BtL is less influenced by differences in biomass yield, but land use can be decreased significantly if the conversion efficiency of gasification and FTS increases due to technological developments. The protein-rich co-products such as rape meal and DDGS also have a visible impact, they decrease the total land use of HEFA and AtJ(+) routes significantly.

E-SAF production routes are substantially more dependent on the production of hydrogen and electricity compared to Bio-SAF production. The vast majority of land use for e-SAF production is allocated to electrolyzers, along with energy requirements for DAC and heat supply. However, the land use of e-SAF production is quite robust, the land use only increases or decreases slightly with a difference in electricity production potential. While bio-SAF production cannot compete with e-SAF production when it comes to land use, the opposite is true for the total electricity requirement. E-SAF production routes require 5 – 30 times as much electricity compared to bio-SAF routes. The trade-off between land use and electricity requirements is important to make, as renewable electricity is expected to become a scarce resource and is not available in large quantities in all situations. The geographical location plays a significant role in the choice between bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes and in the overall debate of biofuels vs. e-fuels. Therefore, it is recommended to compare bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes on a case-by-case basis, by including costs, environmental impacts (not only GHG emissions), land use and technical feasibility. Although e-SAF production is more land use efficient, bio-SAF can function as a drop-in fuel the next decades as they are further in development and overall costs are lower. The best option is to produce AtI(+) in the south of the EU, where biomass yields are highest and surplus land is abundantly available. Marginal lands can be utilized by cultivating multiple types of 2nd generation biomass as feedstock for the BtL route. Towards 2050, it becomes attractive to produce e-SAF due to technological developments in DAC and electrolyzers, along with cost reductions. Combined routes where both bio-SAF and e-SAF are produced are a viable alternative, as they require less electricity in exchange for a slight increase in land use.

7. References

- Adami, R., Lamberti, P., Tucci, V., Guadagno, L., Valdés, A. R., Zaporozhets, O., ... & Burmaoglu, S. (2021). Alternative fuels for aviation: possible alternatives and practical prospects of biofuels. In IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering (Vol. 1024, No. 1, p. 012113). IOP Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1088/1757-899X/1024/1/012113
- Ahlgren, S., & Di Lucia, L. (2014). Indirect land use changes of biofuel production-a review of modelling efforts and policy developments in the European Union. Biotechnology for biofuels, 7(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1754-6834-7-35
- 3. Albrecht, U., Schmidt, P. R., Weindorf, W., Wurster, R., & Zittel, W. (2013). Kraftstoffstudie -Zukünftige Kraftstoffe für Verbrennungsmotoren und Gasturbinen. Patrick R. Schmidt Werner Zittel Werner Weindorf Tetyana Raksha. Mentioned in Malins (2017).
- Allen, B., Kretschmer, B., Baldock, D., Menadue, H., Nanni, S., & Tucker, G. (2014). Space for energy crops-assessing the potential contribution to Europe's energy future. Report produced for BirdLife Europe, European Environmental Bureau and Transport & Environment. IEEP, London, 61. Retrieved from: http://minisites.ieep.eu/assets/1392/IEEP_2014_Space_for_Energy_Crops.pdf
- 5. Avidan, A. A. (1988). Gasoline and distillate fuels from methanol. In Studies in Surface Science and Catalysis (Vol. 36, pp. 307-323). Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-2991(09)60524-3
- 6. Bastos Lima, M. G. (2021). The Contested Sustainability of Biofuels in a North-South Context. The Politics of Bioeconomy and Sustainability, 23-47. Retrieved from: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-030-66838-9_2
- Bauen, A., Bitossi, N., German, L., Harris, A., & Leow, K. (2020). Sustainable Aviation Fuels: Status, challenges and prospects of drop-in liquid fuels, hydrogen and electrification in aviation. Johnson Matthey Technology Review, 64(3), 263-278. Retrieved from: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/636a/ea7b2188d544f8a0de65547e477456d8fc07.pdf#page=3 3
- 8. Bertuccioli, L., Chan, A., Hart, D., Lehner, F., Madden, B., & Standen, E. (2014). Study on development of water electrolysis in the EU. Fuel cells and hydrogen joint undertaking, 1-160. https://www.fch.europa.eu/sites/default/files/study%20electrolyser_0-Logos_0.pdf
- Bhuiya, M. M. K., Rasul, M. G., Khan, M. M. K., Ashwath, N., & Azad, A. K. (2016). Prospects of 2nd generation biodiesel as a sustainable fuel—Part: 1 selection of feedstocks, oil extraction techniques and conversion technologies. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 55, 1109-1128. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.04.163
- 10. Blok, K., & Nieuwlaar, E. (2020). Introduction to energy analysis. Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003003571
- 11. Borisut, P., & Nuchitprasittichai, A. (2019). Methanol production via CO₂ hydrogenation: sensitivity analysis and simulation—based optimization. Frontiers in Energy Research, 7, 81. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenrg.2019.00081
- 12. BP (2021). Approximate conversion factors. *Statistical Review of World Energy*. Retrieved from: https://www.bp.com/content/dam/bp/business-sites/en/global/corporate/pdfs/energy-economics/statistical-review/bp-stats-review-2022-approximate-conversion-factors.pdf
- 13. Bracker, J., & Timpe, C. (2017). An outline of sustainability criteria for synthetic fuels used in transport. Oko-Institut eV Freiburg, 11. Retrieved from: https://www.oeko.de/fileadmin/oekodoc/Sustainability-criteria-for-synthetic-fuels.pdf

- 14. Bringezu, S., Ramesohl, S., Arnold, K., Fischedick, M., Geibler, J. V., Liedtke, C., & Schütz, H. (2007). Towards a sustainable biomass strategy: What we know and what we should know (Vol. 163). Wuppertal Institut für Klima, Umwelt, Energie. Retrieved from: <u>https://epub.wupperinst.org/frontdoor/index/index/docId/2642</u>
- Brinkman, M. L., van der Hilst, F., Faaij, A. P., & Wicke, B. (2018). Low-ILUC-risk rapeseed biodiesel: Potential and indirect GHG emission effects in Eastern Romania. Biofuels. https://doi.org/10.1080/17597269.2018.1464873
- Capellán-Pérez, I., De Castro, C., & Arto, I. (2017). Assessing vulnerabilities and limits in the transition to renewable energies: Land requirements under 100% solar energy scenarios. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 77, 760-782. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2017.03.137
- 17. CBS (2019). Sugar beet harvest in Europe down. CBS. Retrieved from: https://www.cbs.nl/en-gb/news/2019/24/sugar-beet-harvest-in-europe-down
- 18. Chiaramonti, D. (2019). Sustainable aviation fuels: the challenge of decarbonization. Energy Procedia, 158, 1202-1207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2019.01.308
- 19. Ciliberti, C., Biundo, A., Albergo, R., Agrimi, G., Braccio, G., de Bari, I., & Pisano, I. (2020). Syngas derived from lignocellulosic biomass gasification as an alternative resource for innovative bioprocesses. Processes, 8(12), 1567. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr8121567
- Cole, W. J., & Frazier, A. (2019). Cost projections for utility-scale battery storage (No. NREL/TP-6A20-73222). National Renewable Energy Lab.(NREL), Golden, CO (United States). Retrieved from: https://www.osti.gov/servlets/purl/1529218
- 21. Concawe (2022). E-Fuels: A technoeconomic assessment of European domestic production and imports towards 2050. Retrieved from: https://www.concawe.eu/publication/e-fuels-a-techno-economic-assessment-of-european-domestic-production-and-imports-towards-2050/
- 22. Damartzis, T., & Zabaniotou, A. (2011). Thermochemical conversion of biomass to second generation biofuels through integrated process design—A review. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 15(1), 366-378. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2010.08.003
- 23. Dauber, J., Brown, C., Fernando, A. L., Finnan, J., Krasuska, E., Ponitka, J., ... & Zah, R. (2012). Bioenergy from "surplus" land: environmental and socio-economic implications. BioRisk, 7, 5-50. https://biorisk.pensoft.net/article/1894/download/pdf/
- 24. D'Avino, L., Dainelli, R., Lazzeri, L., & Spugnoli, P. (2015). The role of co-products in biorefinery sustainability: energy allocation versus substitution method in rapeseed and carinata biodiesel chains. Journal of Cleaner Production, 94, 108-115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2015.01.088
- Davis, S. J., Lewis, N. S., Shaner, M., Aggarwal, S., Arent, D., Azevedo, I. L., ... & Caldeira, K. (2018). Netzero emissions energy systems. Science, 360(6396), eaas9793. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.aas9793
- De Jong, S., Antonissen, K., Hoefnagels, R., Lonza, L., Wang, M., Faaij, A., & Junginger, M. (2017). Lifecycle analysis of greenhouse gas emissions from renewable jet fuel production. Biotechnology for biofuels, 10, 1-18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-017-0739-7
- Diederichs, G. W. (2015). Techno-economic assessment of processes that produce jet fuel from plant-derived sources (Doctoral dissertation, Stellenbosch: Stellenbosch University). Retrieved from: http://scholar.sun.ac.za/bitstream/handle/10019.1/98104/diederichs_techno_2015.pdf?sequen ce=1

- Dimitriou, I., Goldingay, H., & Bridgwater, A. V. (2018). Techno-economic and uncertainty analysis of Biomass to Liquid (BTL) systems for transport fuel production. Renewable and sustainable energy reviews, 88, 160-175. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.02.023
- 29. Drünert, S., Neuling, U., Zitscher, T., & Kaltschmitt, M. (2020). Power-to-Liquid fuels for aviation– Processes, resources and supply potential under German conditions. Applied energy, 277, 115578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.115578
- Elbersen, B., M. Van Eupen, S. Mantel, S. Verzandvoort, H. Boogaard, S. Mucher, T. Cicarreli, et al. (2018). Methodological Approaches to Identify and Map Marginal Land Suitable for Industrial Crops in Europe. Wageningen: WUR. Retrieved from: https://magic-h2020.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2022/04/MAGIC_D2.6-Methodological-approaches.pdf
- 31. Energy Institute (2022). Central and Eastern Europe's largest solar plant connects to the grid. Retrieved from: https://knowledge.energyinst.org/new-energy-world/article?id=127329
- Enevoldsen, P., Permien, F. H., Bakhtaoui, I., von Krauland, A. K., Jacobson, M. Z., Xydis, G., ... & Oxley, G. (2019). How much wind power potential does europe have? Examining european wind power potential with an enhanced socio-technical atlas. Energy Policy, 132, 1092-1100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2019.06.064
- 33. The Engineering Toolbox (n.d.). Fuels Higher and Lower Calorific Values. Retrieved from: https://www.engineeringtoolbox.com/fuels-higher-calorific-values-d_169.html
- 34. Environmental Protection Agency (2022). Land use. What are the trends in land use and their effects on human health and the environment? Retrieved from: https://www.epa.gov/report-environment/land-use
- 35. European Commission (2012). Indirect Land Use Change (ILUC). MEMO/12/787. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/de/MEMO_12_787
- 36. European Commission (2021). Land use statistics. Eurostat. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/statistics-explained/index.php?title=Land_use_statistics
- 37. European Commission (2022). In focus: Reducing the EU's dependence on imported fossil fuels. https://ec.europa.eu/info/news/focus-reducing-eus-dependence-imported-fossil-fuels-2022apr-20_en
- 38. European Environment Agency (2017). GHG emissions by aggregated sector in the EU-28 (kt CO₂ eq.). Retrieved from: https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/key-trends-and-drivers-in-1/eu-greenhouse-gas-inventory-for/ghg-emissions-by-aggregated-sector#tab-chart_3
- Evwind (2019). The 342 MW Phoenix wind energy project will produce wind power across 10 wind farm plants in Aragon, Spain. Retrieved from: https://www.evwind.es/2019/04/03/the-342-mwphoenix-wind-energy-project-will-produce-wind-power-across-10-wind-farm-plants-in-aragonspain/66656
- 40. E4tech (2021). Decarbonisation potential of synthetic kerosine. E4tech (UK) Ltd for Ministerie van Infrastructuur en Waterstaat. Retrieved from: https://www.eerstekamer.nl/nonav/overig/20210720/onderzoek_decarbonisation/document
- 41. Faber, J., Lee, D., Becken, S., Corbett, J. J., Cumpsty, N., Fleming, G., ... & Smith, T. (2020). Bridging the gap-the role of international shipping and aviation. Retrieved from: https://e-space.mmu.ac.uk/627068/1/EGR20ch5.pdf
- 42. Farm Energy (2019). Corn Stover for Biofuel Production. Retrieved from: https://farmenergy.extension.org/corn-stover-for-biofuel-production/

- 43. Fasihi. (2015). Economics of Global LNG Trading Based on Hybrid PV-Wind Power Plants. Neo-Carbon Energy 4th Researchers' Seminar. Retrieved from: <u>http://www.neocarbonenergy.fi/wpcontent/uploads/2016/02/09_Fasihi.pdf</u>
- 44. Fasihi, M., Bogdanov, D., & Breyer, C. (2016). Techno-economic assessment of power-to-liquids (PtL) fuels production and global trading based on hybrid PV-wind power plants. Energy Procedia, 99, 243-268. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.egypro.2016.10.115
- Fasihi, M., Bogdanov, D., & Breyer, C. (2017). "Overview on PTX Options Studied in NCE and their Global Potential based on Hybrid PV-Wind Power Plants". Lappeenranta University of Technology, Lappeenranta, Hg., Dezember. Retrieved from: http://www.neocarbonenergy.fi/wpcontent/uploads/2016/02/13_Fasihi.pdf
- 46. Fasihi, M., Efimova, O., & Breyer, C. (2019). Techno-economic assessment of CO₂ direct air capture plants. Journal of cleaner production, 224, 957-980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.03.086
- 47. Fischer, G., Prieler, S., van Velthuizen, H., Lensink, S. M., Londo, M., & de Wit, M. (2010). Biofuel production potentials in Europe: Sustainable use of cultivated land and pastures. Part I: Land productivity potentials. Biomass and bioenergy, 34(2), 159-172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2009.07.008
- 48. Fridrihsone, A., Romagnoli, F., & Cabulis, U. (2020). Environmental life cycle assessment of rapeseed and rapeseed oil produced in Northern Europe: A Latvian case study. Sustainability, 12(14), 5699. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12145699
- 49. Gaber, M. A. F. M., Tujillo, F. J., Mansour, M. P., & Juliano, P. (2018). Improving oil extraction from canola seeds by conventional and advanced methods. Food engineering reviews, 10, 198-210. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12393-018-9182-1
- 50. Gawel, E., & Ludwig, G. (2011). The iLUC dilemma: How to deal with indirect land use changes when governing energy crops?. Land Use Policy, 28(4), 846-856. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2011.03.003
- Geleynse, S., Brandt, K., Garcia-Perez, M., Wolcott, M., & Zhang, X. (2018). The alcohol-to-jet conversion pathway for drop-in biofuels: techno-economic evaluation. ChemSusChem, 11(21), 3728-3741. https://doi.org/10.1002/cssc.201801690
- 52. German Environment Agency (2016). Power-to-liquids potentials and perspectives for the future supply of renewable aviation fuel. Retrieved from: https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/377/publikationen/161005_uba_hintergrund_ptl_barrierrefrei.pdf
- 53. Goh, B. H. H., Chong, C. T., Ge, Y., Ong, H. C., Ng, J. H., Tian, B., ... & Józsa, V. (2020). Progress in utilisation of waste cooking oil for sustainable biodiesel and biojet fuel production. Energy Conversion and Management, 223, 113296. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2020.113296
- 54. Gössling, S., Humpe, A., Fichert, F., & Creutzig, F. (2021). COVID-19 and pathways to low-carbon air transport until 2050. Environmental Research Letters, 16(3), 034063.
- 55. Gray, N., McDonagh, S., O'Shea, R., Smyth, B., & Murphy, J. D. (2021). Decarbonising ships, planes and trucks: An analysis of suitable low-carbon fuels for the maritime, aviation and haulage sectors. Advances in Applied Energy, 1, 100008. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adapen.2021.100008
- 56. Gupta, R., McRoberts, R., Yu, Z., Smith, C., Sloan, W., & You, S. (2022). Life cycle assessment of biodiesel production from rapeseed oil: Influence of process parameters and scale. Bioresource Technology, 360, 127532. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2022.127532

- 57. Hamelinck, C. N., Faaij, A. P., den Uil, H., & Boerrigter, H. (2004). Production of FT transportation fuels from biomass; technical options, process analysis and optimisation, and development potential. Energy, 29(11), 1743-1771. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2004.01.002
- Hannula, I. (2016). Hydrogen enhancement potential of synthetic biofuels manufacture in the European context: A techno-economic assessment. Energy, 104, 199-212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.03.119
- 59. Harvey, M., & Pilgrim, S. (2011). The new competition for land: Food, energy, and climate change. Food policy, 36, S40-S51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodpol.2010.11.009
- 60. Heijungs, R., Allacker, K., Benetto, E., Brandão, M., Guinée, J., Schaubroeck, S., ... & Zamagni, A. (2021). System expansion and substitution in LCA: a lost opportunity of ISO 14044 amendment 2. Frontiers in Sustainability, 2, 692055. https://doi.org/10.3389/frsus.2021.692055
- 61. Hernandez, R. R., Easter, S. B., Murphy-Mariscal, M. L., Maestre, F. T., Tavassoli, M., Allen, E. B., ... & Allen, M. F. (2014). Environmental impacts of utility-scale solar energy. Renewable and sustainable energy reviews, 29, 766-779. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2013.08.041
- 62. Hernandez, R. R., Hoffacker, M. K., & Field, C. B. (2015). Efficient use of land to meet sustainable energy needs. Nature Climate Change, 5(4), 353-358. https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2556
- 63. Hu, J., Yu, F., & Lu, Y. (2012). Application of Fischer–Tropsch synthesis in biomass to liquid conversion. Catalysts, 2(2), 303-326. https://doi.org/10.3390/catal2020303
- 64. Huang, Z., Grim, G., Schaidle, J., & Tao, L. (2020). Using waste CO2 to increase ethanol production from corn ethanol biorefineries: Techno-economic analysis. Applied energy, 280, 115964. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2020.115964
- 65. Huismans, M. (2022). Electrification. Energy Systems Overview. *IEA*. Retrieved from: https://www.iea.org/reports/electrification
- 66. IATA (2015). IATA Sustainable Aviation Fuel Roadmap. Retrieved from: https://www.iata.org/contentassets/d13875e9ed784f75bac90f000760e998/safr-1-2015.pdf
- 67. Iberdrola (n.d.). Núñez de Balboa, the biggest photovoltaic plant in Europe. Retrieved from: https://www.iberdrola.com/about-us/what-we-do/solar-photovoltaic-energy/nunez-de-balboa-photovoltaic-plant
- 68. ICAO (2020). Effects of Novel Coronavirus (COVID-19) on Civil Aviation: Economic Impact Analysis. Retrieved from: https://www.icao.int/sustainability/Documents/COVID-19/ICAO%20Coronavirus%202020%2005%2008%20Economic%20Impact.pdf
- 69. ICAO (2021). Conversion processes. Retrieved from: https://www.icao.int/environmentalprotection/GFAAF/Pages/Conversion-processes.aspx
- 70. IEA (2015). Technology roadmap Hydrogen and fuel cells. Retrieved from: https://www.iea.org/reports/technology-roadmap-hydrogen-and-fuel-cells
- 71. IEA (2021). Renewable electricity growth is accelerating faster than ever worldwide, supporting the emergence of the new global energy economy. Retrieved from: https://www.iea.org/news/renewable-electricity-growth-is-accelerating-faster-than-ever-worldwide-supporting-the-emergence-of-the-new-global-energy-economy
- 72. IEA (2022a). Direct Air Capture. Retrieved from: https://www.iea.org/reports/direct-air-capture

- 73. IEA (2022b). Surging electricity demand is putting power systems under strain around the world. Retrieved from: https://www.iea.org/news/surging-electricity-demand-is-putting-powersystems-under-strain-around-the-world
- 74. IRENA (2021). Innovation Outlook Renewable Methanol. Retrieved from: https://www.irena.org/publications/2021/Jan/Innovation-Outlook-Renewable-Methanol
- 75. IRENA (n.d.). Wind Energy. https://www.irena.org/Energy-Transition/Technology/Wind-energy
- 76. Jazayeri, S. M. (2015). Characterization of genes related to oil palm (Elaeis guineensis Jacq.) drought stress responses. Departamento de Biología. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.25686.75845
- 77. Jering, A., Klatt, A., Seven, J., Ehlers, K., Günther, J., Ostermeier, A., & Mönch, L. (2013). Sustainable use of global land and biomass resources. Umweltbundesamt. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/en/publikationen/sustainable-use-of-global-land-biomassresources</u>
- 78. JRC (2014). European Commission Joint Research Centre, Institute for Energy and Transport (IET). Solar radiation and photovoltaic electricity potential country and regional maps for Europe. Retrieved from: http://re.jrc.ec.europa.eu/pvgis/cmaps/eu_cmsaf_opt/PVGIS_EU_201204 _publication.png
- 79. Kaltschmitt, M., & Streicher, W. (2009). Energie aus biomasse. In Regenerative Energien in Österreich (pp. 339-532). Vieweg+ Teubner. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-8348-9327-7_9
- 80. Karlsson, M., & Sund, L. (2016). Life cycle assessments of arable land use options and protein feeds: a comparative study investigating the climate impact from different scenarios in the agricultural sector. Retrieved from: https://www.diva-portal.org/smash/record.jsf?pid=diva2:940006
- Kim, S., & Dale, B. E. (2002). Allocation procedure in ethanol production system from corn grain I. system expansion. The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment, 7, 237-243. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02978879
- Klein, B. C., Chagas, M. F., Junqueira, T. L., Rezende, M. C. A. F., de Fátima Cardoso, T., Cavalett, O., & Bonomi, A. (2018). Techno-economic and environmental assessment of renewable jet fuel production in integrated Brazilian sugarcane biorefineries. Applied Energy, 209, 290-305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2017.10.079
- 83. Krasuska, E., Cadórniga, C., Tenorio, J. L., Testa, G., & Scordia, D. (2010). Potential land availability for energy crops production in Europe. Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining, 4(6), 658-673. https://doi.org/10.1002/bbb.259
- Lambin, E. F., & Meyfroidt, P. (2011). Global land use change, economic globalization, and the looming land scarcity. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 108(9), 3465-3472. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1100480108
- 85. Langford, J. S., & Hall, D. K. (2020). Electrified aircraft propulsion. The Bridge, 50(2), 21-27. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Nicholas-Margiewicz/post/Improvements_in_Synthetic_Fuel/attachment/616c839df5675b211b099eb8/A S%3A1079064483897346%401634280429430/download/032841NAEBridgev50n2-Summer2020TXTstitchedhyperlinks.pdf#page=23
- Lee, R. A., & Lavoie, J. M. (2013). From first-to third-generation biofuels: Challenges of producing a commodity from a biomass of increasing complexity. Animal Frontiers, 3(2), 6-11. https://doi.org/10.2527/af.2013-0010
- 87. Lewandowski, I. (2015). Securing a sustainable biomass supply in a growing bioeconomy. Global Food Security, 6, 34-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2015.10.001

- Lewandowski, I., Clifton-Brown, J., Trindade, L. M., Van der Linden, G. C., Schwarz, K. U., Müller-Sämann, K., ... & Kalinina, O. (2016). Progress on optimizing miscanthus biomass production for the European bioeconomy: Results of the EU FP7 project OPTIMISC. Frontiers in plant science, 7, 1620. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpls.2016.01620
- 89. Li, J., He, Y., Tan, L., Zhang, P., Peng, X., Oruganti, A., ... & Tsubaki, N. (2018a). Integrated tuneable synthesis of liquid fuels via Fischer–Tropsch technology. Nature Catalysis, 1(10), 787-793. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41929-018-0144-z
- 90. Li, Y., Kalnay, E., Motesharrei, S., Rivas, J., Kucharski, F., Kirk-Davidoff, D., ... & Zeng, N. (2018b). Climate model shows large-scale wind and solar farms in the Sahara increase rain and vegetation. Science, 361(6406), 1019-1022. https://www.science.org/doi/10.1126/science.aar5629
- 91. Liebner, W., Koempel, H. & Wagner, M. (2004). Gas-To-Chemicals-Technologien von Lurgi: von Ergas/Synthesegas zu hochwertigen Produkten. Lurgi AG, Frankfurt am Main. Berg- und Hüttenmännischer Tag, Freiberg 16./17. Mentioned in Schmidt et al. (2016).
- 92. Lizotte, P. L., Savoie, P., & De Champlain, A. (2015). Ash content and calorific energy of corn stover components in Eastern Canada. Energies, 8(6), 4827-4838. https://doi.org/10.3390/en8064827
- 93. Lu, Z., Yao, Y., Liu, G., Ma, W., & Gong, Y. (2022). Thermodynamic and Economic Analysis of a High Temperature Cascade Heat Pump System for Steam Generation. Processes, 10(9), 1862. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr10091862
- 94. Ludwig, D., Breyer, C., Solomon, A. A., & Seguin, R. (2020). Evaluation of an onsite integrated hybrid PV-Wind power plant. AIMS Energy, 8(5), 988-1006. https://doi.org10.3934/energy.2020.5.988
- 95. Macrotrends (2023a). Poland Arable Land 1961-2023. Retrieved from: https://www.macrotrends.net/countries/POL/poland/arableland#:~:text=Poland%20arable%20land%20for%202020,a%200.94%25%20increase%20from %202017.
- 96. Macrotrends (2023b). Spain Arable Land 1961-2023. Retrieved from: https://www.macrotrends.net/countries/ESP/spain/arableland#:~:text=Spain%20arable%20land%20for%202020,a%203.02%25%20decline%20from%2 02017.
- 97. Malça, J., Coelho, A., & Freire, F. (2014). Environmental life-cycle assessment of rapeseed-based biodiesel: Alternative cultivation systems and locations. Applied energy, 114, 837-844. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.06.048
- 98. Malins, C. (2017). What role is there for electrofuel technologies in European transport's low carbon future. Cerulogy Report. Retrieved from: https://www.transportenvironment.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/2017_11_Cerulogy_study_What_role_electrofuels_final_0.pdf
- 99. McQueen, N., Gomes, K. V., McCormick, C., Blumanthal, K., Pisciotta, M., & Wilcox, J. (2021). A review of direct air capture (DAC): scaling up commercial technologies and innovating for the future. Progress in Energy, 3(3), 032001. https://doi.org/10.1088/2516-1083/abf1ce
- 100. Mendu, V., Harman-Ware, A. E., Crocker, M., Jae, J., Stork, J., Morton, S., ... & DeBolt, S. (2011). Identification and thermochemical analysis of high-lignin feedstocks for biofuel and biochemical production. Biotechnology for biofuels, 4(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1754-6834-4-43
- 101. Meunier, N., Chauvy, R., Mouhoubi, S., Thomas, D., & De Weireld, G. (2020). Alternative production of methanol from industrial CO2. Renewable energy, 146, 1192-1203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2019.07.010

- 102. Monforti, F., Huld, T., Bódis, K., Vitali, L., D'isidoro, M., & Lacal-Arántegui, R. (2014). Assessing complementarity of wind and solar resources for energy production in Italy. A Monte Carlo approach. Renewable Energy, 63, 576-586. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2013.10.028
- 103. Monteiro, R. R., dos Santos, I. A., Arcanjo, M. R., Cavalcante Jr, C. L., de Luna, F. M., Fernandez-Lafuente, R., & Vieira, R. S. (2022). Production of Jet Biofuels by Catalytic Hydroprocessing of Esters and Fatty Acids: A Review. Catalysts, 12(2), 237. https://doi.org/10.3390/catal12020237
- 104. Mueller, S. A., Anderson, J. E., & Wallington, T. J. (2011). Impact of biofuel production and other supply and demand factors on food price increases in 2008. Biomass and bioenergy, 35(5), 1623-1632. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2011.01.030
- 105. Multiconsult (2022). Zwartowo Photovoltaic Farms Project Non-Technical Summary. Retrieved from: https://www.ebrd.com/what-we-do/project-information/environment-socialinfo-documents/1395305220599/Zwartowo_solar_NTS.pdf?blobnocache=true
- 106. Neuling, U., & Kaltschmitt, M. (2015). Conversion routes for production of biokerosene status and assessment. Biomass Conversion and Biorefinery, 5(4), 367-385. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13399-014-0154-2
- 107. Niekurzak, M. (2021). Determining the Unit Values of the Allocation of Greenhouse Gas Emissions for the Production of Biofuels in the Life Cycle. Energies, 14(24), 8394. https://doi.org/10.3390/en14248394
- 108. Noack, C., Burggraf, F., Hosseiny, S. S., Lettenmeier, P., Kolb, S., Belz, S., ... & Schneider, G. S. (2015). Studie über die Planung einer Demonstrationsanlage zur Wasserstoff-Kraftstoffgewinnung durch Elektrolyse mit Zwischenspeicherung in Salzkavernen unter Druck. Retrieved from: https://elib.dlr.de/94979/
- 109. Nova-Institute (2020). PRESS RELEASE (EN/DE): Can the European Union's kerosene demand be met by the amount of biomass produced in the EU? Retrieved from: https://nova-institute.eu/press/?id=181
- 110. Oldenbroek, V., Verhoef, L. A., & Van Wijk, A. J. (2017). Fuel cell electric vehicle as a power plant: Fully renewable integrated transport and energy system design and analysis for smart city areas. International Journal of Hydrogen Energy, 42(12), 8166-8196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.01.155
- 111. Ozkan, M., Nayak, S. P., Ruiz, A. D., & Jiang, W. (2022). Current status and pillars of direct air capture technologies. Iscience, 103990. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2022.103990
- 112. Pechstein, J., Neuling, U., Gebauer, J., & Kaltschmitt, M. (2018). Alcohol-to-Jet (AtJ). In Biokerosene (pp. 543-574). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-662-53065-8_21
- 113. Pearlson, M. N. (2011). A techno-economic and environmental assessment of hydroprocessed renewable distillate fuels (Doctoral dissertation, Massachusetts Institute of Technology). Retrieved from: https://dspace.mit.edu/handle/1721.1/65508
- 114. Porsborg-Smith, A., Rakhou, E., Hegnsholt, E., Mistry, K., Baker, T. & Zuzek-Arden, T. (2022). Achieving Energy Security in the EU. *BCG.* Retrieved from: https://www.bcg.com/publications/2022/achieving-energy-security-in-the-eu
- 115. Power-Technology (2023). Power plant profile: Gluszynko-Grapice Wind Farm, Poland. Retrieved from: https://www.power-technology.com/marketdata/power-plant-profilegluszynko-grapice-wind-farm-poland/

- 116. Ram, M., Bogdanov, D., Aghahosseini, A., Gulagi, A., Oyewo, A. S., Child, M., ... & Breyer, C. (2018). Global energy system based on 100% renewable energy–Energy transition in Europe across power, heat, transport and desalination sectors. Study by LUT University and Energy Watch Group, Lappeenranta, Berlin. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/329714210_Global_Energy_System_based_on_100_Re newable_Energy_Energy_Transition_in_Europe_Across_Power_Heat_Transport_and_Desalination_Sectors
- 117. Ritchie, H. (2022). How does the land use of different electricity sources compare? *Our World in Data*. Retrieved from: https://ourworldindata.org/land-use-per-energy-source
- 118. Ritchie, H., Roser, M. & Rosado, P. (2022). Crop yields. Published online on ourworlddata.org. Retrieved from: https://ourworldindata.org/crop-yields
- 119. Rulli, M. C., Bellomi, D., Cazzoli, A., De Carolis, G., & D'Odorico, P. (2016). The water-landfood nexus of first-generation biofuels. Scientific reports, 6(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep22521
- 120. Ruokonen, J., Nieminen, H., Dahiru, A. R., Laari, A., Koiranen, T., Laaksonen, P., ... & Huuhtanen, M. (2021). Modelling and Cost Estimation for Conversion of Green Methanol to Renewable Liquid Transport Fuels via Olefin Oligomerisation. Processes, 9(6), 1046. https://doi.org/10.3390/pr9061046
- 121. Sabatino, F., Grimm, A., Gallucci, F., van Sint Annaland, M., Kramer, G. J., & Gazzani, M. (2021). A comparative energy and costs assessment and optimization for direct air capture technologies. Joule, 5(8), 2047-2076. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.joule.2021.05.023
- 122. Schmidt, P., Weindorf, W., Roth, A., Batteiger, V., & Riegel, F. (2016a). Power-to-liquids: Potentials and perspectives for the future supply of renewable aviation fuel. German Environment Agency. Retrieved from: https://www.umweltbundesamt.de/sites/default/files/medien/377/publikationen/161005_uba _hintergrund_ptl_barrierrefrei.pdf
- 123. Schmidt, P., Zittel, W., Weindorf, W., Rakasha, T., & Goericke, D. (2016b). Renewables in transport 2050–Empowering a sustainable mobility future with zero emission fuels. In 16. Internationales Stuttgarter Symposium (pp. 185-199). Springer, Wiesbaden. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/292143392_FVV_Study_Renewables_in_Transport_20 50_Empowering_a_sustainable_mobility_future_with_zero_emission_fuels_from_renewable_electri city/references
- 124. Schmidt, P., Batteiger, V., Roth, A., Weindorf, W., & Raksha, T. (2018). Power-to-Liquids as Renewable Fuel Option for Aviation: A Review. Chemie Ingenieur Technik, 90(1-2), 127-140. https://doi.org/10.1002/cite.201700129
- 125. Searchinger, T. D., Beringer, T., & Strong, A. (2017). Does the world have low-carbon bioenergy potential from the dedicated use of land?. Energy Policy, 110, 434-446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.08.016
- 126. Sharma, P., Sebastian, J., Ghosh, S., Creaser, D., & Olsson, L. (2021). Recent advances in hydrogenation of CO 2 into hydrocarbons via methanol intermediate over heterogeneous catalysts. Catalysis Science & Technology, 11(5), 1665-1697. https://doi.org/10.1039/D0CY01913E
- 127. Siemens Gamesa (2022). Unlocking European Energy Security. https://www.siemensgamesa.com/products-and-services/hybrid-and-storage/greenhydrogen/unlocking-european-energy-security
- 128. Smil, V. (2015). Power density: a key to understanding energy sources and uses. MIT press. Retrieved from:

https://books.google.com/books?hl=nl&lr=&id=ZSg6CQAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PR5&ots=9IaQoD0 Wy7&sig=AzgGQ0eXhJDsGeahU5mMPs6RWuQ

- 129. Sotelo-Boyás, R., Trejo-Zárraga, F., & Hernández-Loyo, F. D. J. (2012). Hydroconversion of triglycerides into green liquid fuels. Hydrogenation, 338, 338. https://www.intechopen.com/chapters/39732
- 130. Staffell, I. (2011). The energy and fuel data sheet. *University of Birmingham, UK*. Retrieved from: https://www.claverton-energy.com/wordpress/wpcontent/uploads/2012/08/the_energy_and_fuel_data_sheet1.pdf
- 131. Starck, L., Pidol, L., Jeuland, N., Chapus, T., Bogers, P., & Bauldreay, J. (2016). Production of hydroprocessed esters and fatty acids (HEFA)–optimisation of process yield. Oil & Gas Science and Technology–Revue d'IFP Energies nouvelles, 71(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.2516/ogst/2014007
- 132. Statista (2019). Distribution of land use for food production worldwide as of 2019. Retrieved from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1260751/global-land-footprint-of-foodproduction-by-type/
- 133. Statista (2020). Annual greenhouse gas emissions in the European Union (EU-27) from 1990 to 2020, by sector. Retrieved from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1171183/ghg-emissions-sector-european-union-eu/
- 134. Statista (2023a). Consumption of aviation kerosene in Spain from 2003 to 2021. Retrieved from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/1197506/consumed-aviation-kerosene-spain/
- 135. Statista (2023b). Leading producing countries of rapeseed in 2022/2023 (in million metric tons). Retrieved from: https://www.statista.com/statistics/263930/worldwide-production-of-rapeseed-by-country/
- 136. Stephenson, A. L., Dennis, J. S., & Scott, S. A. (2008). Improving the sustainability of the production of biodiesel from oilseed rape in the UK. Process Safety and Environmental Protection, 86(6), 427-440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psep.2008.06.005
- 137. Swanson, R. M., Platon, A., Satrio, J. A., & Brown, R. C. (2010). Techno-economic analysis of biomass-to-liquids production based on gasification. Fuel, 89, S11-S19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2010.07.027
- 138. Tao, L., Milbrandt, A., Zhang, Y., & Wang, W. C. (2017). Techno-economic and resource analysis of hydroprocessed renewable jet fuel. Biotechnology for biofuels, 10(1), 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-017-0945-3
- 139. Terwel, R. & Kerkhoven, J. (2018). Carbon neutral aviation with current engine technology: The take-off of synthetic kerosine production in the Netherlands. *Kalavasta*. Retrieved from: <u>https://kalavasta.com/pages/projects/aviation.html</u>
- 140. The Global Economy (2021). Poland: Jet fuel consumption. Retrieved from: https://www.theglobaleconomy.com/Poland/jet_fuel_consumption/
- 141. Thinkproject (n.d.). Phoenix project, Spain. Retrieved from: https://thinkproject.com/project/phoenix-project-spain/
- 142. Tilman, D., Socolow, R., Foley, J. A., Hill, J., Larson, E., Lynd, L., ... & Williams, R. (2009). Beneficial biofuels—the food, energy, and environment trilemma. Science, 325(5938), 270-271. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1177970
- 143. Timmons, D., & Terwel, R. (2022). Economics of aviation fuel decarbonization: A preliminary assessment. Journal of Cleaner Production, 369, 133097. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2022.133097

- Tiwari, R., Mishra, R., Choubey, A., Kumar, S., Atabani, A. E., Badruddin, I. A., & Khan, T. Y. (2023). Environmental and economic issues for renewable production of bio-jet fuel: A global prospective. Fuel, 332, 125978. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2022.125978</u>
- 145. TNO (2021). TNO starts multi-annual study on the effects of wind turbine shade on solar parks. Retrieved from: https://www.tno.nl/en/newsroom/2021/02/research-effects-wind-turbine-shade/
- 146.
 Transport & Environment (2018). How to decarbonize European transport by 2050.

 Retrieved
 from:
 <u>https://www.transportenvironment.org/wp-</u>

 content/uploads/2021/07/2018 11 2050 synthesis report transport decarbonisation.pdf
- 147. Transport & Environment (2023). Land used for European biofuels could feed 120 million people daily. Retrieved from: https://www.transportenvironment.org/discover/land-used-for-european-biofuels-could-feed-120-million-people-daily/
- 148. Triangle biofuels Industries Inc. (n.d.). Oilseed crop yields. Retrieved from https://www.trianglebiofuels.com/faqs-about-biodiesel/tools/oilseed-crop-yields/
- 149. Valdovinos-García, E. M., Bravo-Sánchez, M. G., Olán-Acosta, M. D. L. Á., Barajas-Fernández, J., Guzmán-López, A., & Petriz-Prieto, M. A. (2022). Technoeconomic Evaluation of Microalgae Oil Production: Effect of Cell Disruption Method. Fermentation, 8(7), 301. https://doi.org/10.3390/fermentation8070301
- 150. Vera, I., Hoefnagels, R., Junginger, M., & van der Hilst, F. (2021). Supply potential of lignocellulosic energy crops grown on marginal land and greenhouse gas footprint of advanced biofuels—A spatially explicit assessment under the sustainability criteria of the Renewable Energy Directive Recast. GCB Bioenergy, 13(9), 1425-1447. https://doi.org/10.1111/gcbb.12867
- 151. Vervloesem, J., Marcheggiani, E., Choudhury, M. A. M., & Muys, B. (2022). Effects of Photovoltaic Solar Farms on Microclimate and Vegetation Diversity. Sustainability, 14(12), 7493. https://www.mdpi.com/1685796
- 152. Wang, W. C., & Tao, L. (2016). Bio-jet fuel conversion technologies. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 53, 801-822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2015.09.016
- 153. Wang, Z., Dunn, J. B., Han, J., & Wang, M. Q. (2015). Influence of corn oil recovery on lifecycle greenhouse gas emissions of corn ethanol and corn oil biodiesel. Biotechnology for biofuels, 8, 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13068-015-0350-8
- 154. Yilmaz, N. (2022). Comparative energy and environmental assessment of battery technologies and alternative fuels in sustainable aviation. International Journal of Green Energy, 1-10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15435075.2022.2075226</u>
- 155. You, F., & Wang, B. (2011). Life cycle optimization of biomass-to-liquid supply chains with distributed-centralized processing networks. Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research, 50(17), 10102-10127. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ie200850t</u>
- 156. Zech, K. M., Dietrich, S., Reichmuth, M., Weindorf, W., & Müller-Langer, F. (2018). Technoeconomic assessment of a renewable bio-jet-fuel production using power-to-gas. Applied Energy, 231, 997-1006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2018.09.169

8. Appendices

Appendix 1 - prior research on EU surplus lands, biomass- and renewable electricity potentials

This appendix contains literature on land availability for fuel production in the EU, as well as biomass potentials. As the research is relatively old, there are not included in the main research. However, their findings have helped with the selection of regions that are used for the case studies of this research.

Ideally, fuel production takes place on the unused and abandoned agricultural lands in the EU. Some of these areas do need to be excluded due to prohibitions of socio-economic activities on protected lands or to remoteness of the lands, making socio-economic activities less attractive (European Commission, 2021). However, a substantial amount of marginal land could still be used for the production of 2nd generation biomass or renewable electricity. The cultivation of 1st generation biomass is expected to be less effective due to low soil fertility.

In addition to unused agricultural or marginal lands, so-called surplus land can also be used for the production of fuel. Surplus land can be defined as land which is left over after satisfying food and feed demand (Krasuska et al., 2010; Brinkman et al., 2018). Krasuska et al. (2010) states that surplus land can arise due to increasing crop yields for food and feed production and to decreasing population in some European countries. The expected shares of surplus land in the EU from this study are shown in Figure 19**Error! Reference source not found**. Surplus land consists of fallow land, land currently used for energy crops and fertile land which has become available by removing food and feed crops.



Figure 19 - Surplus land share of total agricultural lands in the EU (Krasuska et al., 2010)

Research by Allen et al. (2014) focusing on climate, soil and terrain constraints shows similar findings, see Figure 20. Productive agricultural areas have low to no constraints, indicated by the green areas which are similar to the results of Elbersen et al. (2018). However, the Baltics and Hungary show good potential on the map, unlike the findings of Elbersen et al. (2018). The eastern part of Croatia also suffers from no to few constraints for agriculture. In general, it can be seen that Spain, Greece and central Italy have high soil

constraints, mostly due to mineral poor lands and drought. Large parts of the UK and Scandinavia also suffer from bad soil conditions, such as high acidity and too much water.



Figure 20 - Climate, soil and terrain constraints for rain-fed agriculture in Europe (Allen et al., 2014)

A third study by Fischer et al. (2010) has combined the quality of land, terrain and climate with crop yields of 1st generation biomass and fuel production efficiencies to obtain 1st generation biofuel potentials across Europe, see Figure 21. Fischer et al. (2010) characterized regions of European countries based on their soil fertility and climate to link them to a range of theoretical yields of sugar, starch and oil crops grown on surplus agricultural lands only. Similar to the findings of Elbersen et al. (2018) and Allen et al. (2014), the potential of 1st generation crops and related biofuel potential are low in large parts of the UK, Spain, central Italy, Scandinavia and Greece. The Baltic states perform worse in this study compared to the findings from Allen et al. (2014). Higher potentials are found in the Southwest of Spain & Portugal, France, Belgium, Germany, Poland, the Po valley, Hungary and Croatia.

When assessing 1st generation biofuel potentials, the influence of location of the yield of different biomass crops should also be taken into account. The most prevalent starch crops are cereals, such as wheat and maize. Sugar crops in the EU consist of sugar beet and sweet sorghum. Where wheat and sugar beet have the highest yields in countries such as France, the UK and the Netherlands, maize and (sweet) sorghum are preferably grown in warmer climates found in Spain, Italy and Greece (Ritchie et al., 2022). Spain is also an attractive country to cultivate sugar beets, as the Spanish sugar beet yield was the highest of all European countries in 2018 (CBS, 2019).



Figure 21 - Potential energy yields of 1st generation biofuels from feedstocks cultivated on surplus agricultural land (Fischer et al., 2010)

Fischer et al. (2010) also performed the same study for 2nd generation crops, see Figure 22. In general, it can be seen that theoretical energy yields of 2nd generation biofuels are larger compared to 1st generation biofuels. This is the case as more lands are available for production and high yields for 2nd generation biomass and high efficiencies of conversions into 2nd generation biofuels are assumed in the study. In practice, the potentials are expected to be lower as the conversion of 2nd generation biomass is energy-intensive, thus large amounts of additional energy are required.

In addition to surplus agricultural lands, 2nd generation feedstocks are also cultivated on pastures in Fischer et al. (2010). France, the Po valley in Italy, Croatia, Hungary, Lithuania and parts of Germany & Poland have the highest potential for 2nd generation biofuels. There is no mentioning of inclusion of marginal lands for biomass cultivation, but it is expected that this is left out of scope due to the low potential of lands in Spain and Greece.



Figure 22 - Potential energy yields of 2nd generation biofuels from feedstocks cultivated on pastures and surplus agricultural land (Fischer et al., 2010)

Appendix 2 - Bio-SAF conversion pathways

This appendix includes the chemical reactions required for bio-SAF and e-SAF conversions.

HEFA

During hydrotreatment, the glycerides and FFA's are converted into alkanes in a few steps, see Figure 23. First, triglycerides (triolein, tripalmitin & trilinolein) are hydrotreated to saturate the natural occurring double bonds. In the case of triolein, 3 moles of H_2 are required to form stearine, a saturated triglyceride.

$$C_{57}H_{104}O_6 (triolein) + 3H_2 \rightarrow C_{57}H_{110}O_6 (stearine)$$
 (20)

The saturated triglyceride is hydrotreated again to remove the glycerol backbone which breaks up the triglyceride into three FFA's. In the case of stearine, three moles of H_2 are needed to end up with three moles of stearic acid with propane as byproduct.

$$C_{57}H_{110}O_6$$
 (stearine) + $3H_2 -> 3C_{18}H_{36}O_2$ (stearic acid) + C_3H_8 (propane) (21)

The last step necessary to create alkanes is to remove the oxygen content from the FFA's, which can be with decarbonylation (removal of CO), decarboxylation (removal of CO_2) or hydro-deoxygenation (removal of H₂O). Hydro-deoxygenation is preferred, as this ensures the highest carbon efficiency and no carbon is emitted into the atmosphere (Neuling & Kaltschmitt, 2015; Starck et al., 2016; Wang & Tao, 2016; Tiwari et al., 2023). A range of C₁₅-C₁₈ alkanes is produced, including octadecane.

$$3C_{18}H_{36}O_2$$
 (stearic acid) + $9H_2 \rightarrow 3C_{18}H_{38}$ (octadecane) + $6H_2O$ (22)

The obtained mix of alkanes (also called linear paraffins) needs to be isomerized and hydrocracked as final step, requiring hydrogen and catalysts. Isomerization turns the long chain hydrocarbons (linear paraffins) into branched hydrocarbons (iso-paraffins) to reduce the freeze point, necessary to meet jet fuel A1 standards. Hydrocracking is applied to split the long chain paraffins into smaller chain paraffins, creating jet fuel similar to kerosine.



Figure 23 - Conversion of triglycerides to alkanes (Sotelo-Boyás et al., 2012)

AtJ

The fermentation reaction of ethanol is shown in equation (23).

$$C_6 H_{12} O_6 \to 2 C_2 H_5 OH + 2 C O_2$$
 (23)

The ethanol is dehydrated next. Dehydration of an alcohol removes the water, creates a double bond between carbon atoms and converts ethanol into ethylene, the shortest chain alkene. Ethanol dehydration is sped up with catalysts and requires a temperature of \pm 180 °C (Pechstein et al., 2018).

$$C_2 H_5 OH \to C_2 H_4 + H_2 O$$
 (24)

Ethylene is then converted into longer chain alkenes (linear α -olefins) with oligomerization. For jet fuel, ethylene (C₂ alkene) is turned into alkenes with a carbon number between 8 and 16. Oligomerization also produces a variety of shorter chain olefins, which are not usable as jet fuel. The mixture is distilled to remove the short chain olefins, which are reused in the oligomerization process to end up with a higher share of jet fuel range olefins (Wang & Tao, 2016).

$$n[C_2H_4] \to C_{2n}H_{4n} \tag{25}$$

Alkenes/olefins are unsaturated hydrocarbons and cannot be used directly as jet fuel, due to their instability. The alkene mixture is hydrogenated to convert them into alkenes, with the use of catalyst at ambient temperature and pressure (see Figure 24). Finally, the alkane mixture is distilled and fractionated to end up with usable jet fuel.

$$C_n H_{2n} + H_2 \to C_n H_{2n+2} \tag{26}$$



Figure 24 - Hydrogenation of an alkene (Pechstein et al., 2018)

BtL

After pre-treatment, the biomass enters the gasifier where it is pressurized and gasified with a mixture of pure oxygen and steam. The oxygen is obtained by feeding ambient air through an air separation unit, which splits the oxygen from the air mixture by using electricity. Steam is generated by heating water in a boiler, powered by produced syngas or additional biomass. During gasification, a mixture of CO, CO₂, H₂O, H₂, CH₄ and other CH molecules is formed by thermo-chemically breaking down (hemi)cellulose and lignin structures within the biomass.

$$Biomass + O_2 + H_2O(g) \rightarrow CO, CO_2, H_2O, H_2, CH_4 + other CHs + tar + char + ash$$
(27)

The specific composition of the syngas is dependent on multiple factors, such as the feedstock composition, moisture content of the feedstock and gasifier operation conditions. The gas contains multiple impurities after gasification which need to be removed, such as aromatic hydrocarbons, ash, tars and chemical compounds containing sulfur and nitrogen (Hu et al., 2012). The tar (long chain hydrocarbons) contains a substantial amount of CO and H₂, so it is usually cracked at high temperatures to increase carbon efficiency of the gasification (Hamelinck et al., 2004). After the impurities are removed, the H₂ to CO ratio is adjusted to the optimal FT ratio with the water gas shift (WGS) reaction (You & Wang, 2011).

The readjusted mixture of H_2 and CO is fed into the Fischer-Tropsch (FT) reactor, where they are combined to form a wide range of hydrocarbons, such as alkenes/olefins, alkanes/paraffins and other compounds like alcohol and aromatics (Wang & Tao, 2016). The desired FT reactions for alkanes/paraffins are shown in the equations below. The selectivity of products is highly dependent on the catalyst used, which is generally cobalt or iron. Unconverted syngas is recycled back into the FT reactor to increase desired product yield, the remaining gas can also be used for electricity generation necessary for the air separation unit (You & Wang, 2011).

$$CO + 2H_2 \to (-CH_2 -) + H_2O$$
 (28)

$$nCO + (2n+1)H_2 \rightarrow C_n H_{2n+2} + n(H_2O)$$
 (29)

The initial share of kerosene/jet fuel range hydrocarbons can be increased by hydro-treatment, such as hydrogenation and hydro-cracking. During hydro-treatment, hydrogen reacts with longer hydrocarbons to split them into shorter chain alkanes. As final step, the mixture is distilled to end up with a mixture which fits the desired kerosene output profile.

Appendix 3 - Wind farm sizes Spain & Poland

As mentioned in the main research, the size of the wind farms of Spain and Poland are measured with Google Maps. In Figure 25 and Figure 26 the selected wind farms and their size are shown for Spain and Poland respectively.



Figure 25 - Wind farm Poland Głuszynko-grapice (part of Potegowo)



Figure 26 - Wind farm Spain Phoenix (Aguillon)

Appendix 4 - Sensitivity analysis input data

In Table 8 the sensitivity data for the bio-SAF and e-SAF production routes is shown. The low and high boundaries of the electricity production potentials are based on solar and wind farms that have the lowest and highest energy generation potential per hectare.

Sensitivity data				
Conversion efficiency	Low boundary	Base	High boundary	Sources
HEFA	0.833	0.864	0.899	IATA, 2015; Pearlson, 2011
AtJ	0.5	0.6	0.7	Assumptions (± 10 %)
BtL	0.102	0.13	0.213	Diederichs, 2015; Dimitrou et al., 2018
e-MeOH	0.397	0.442	0.486	Assumptions (± 10 %)
e-FT	0.459	0.510	0.561	Assumptions (± 10 %)
Biomass yield Spain				
HEFA	1.21 t/ha	2.23 t/ha	2.74 t/ha	Ritchie et al., 2022
AtJ	9.04 t/ha	11.71 t/ha	12.83 t/ha	Ritchie et al., 2022
BtL	9.11 t/ha	10.21 t/ha	11.3 t/ha	Vera et al., 2021
Biomass yield Poland				
HEFA	2.24 t/ha	2.76 t/ha	3.44 t/ha	Ritchie et al., 2022
AtJ	4.16 t/ha	6.59 t/ha	7.35 t/ha	Ritchie et al., 2022
BtL	8.18 t/ha	8.65 t/ha	9.13 t/ha	Vera et al., 2021
General				
Electricity production potential Spain	739.78 MWh/ha	971.25 MWh/ha	1560.64 MWh/ha	Calculations
Electricity production potential Poland	649.27 MWh/ha	766.85 MWh/ha	1201.16 MWh/ha	Calculations
Electrolyzer electricity consumption	45.8 kWh/kg H ₂	53.4 kWh/kg H ₂	60 kWh/kg H ₂	Oldenbroek et al., 2017
Curtailment	0 %	10 %	20 %	Assumptions

Table 8 - Input data for sensitivity analysis

Appendix 5 – Additional results

This appendix includes some additional results for land use and sensitivity. They are not included in the main research as they do not add relevant information to the comparison between bio-SAF and e-SAF. Figure 27 shows the land use breakdown of production routes in the optimistic scenario. This figure shows almost identical results to the realistic scenario, therefore it has been left out of the result section.



Figure 27– Land use breakdowns of e-SAF production routes in optimistic electricity provision scenario

As the electricity consumption of the electrolyzer is the largest contributor to total electricity requirement of all production routes, a sensitivity analysis has also been carried out by varying the hydrogen consumption of the electrolyzer, see Figure 28. It is visible that the electricity requirement of the bio-SAF routes are only slightly impacted by varying the electrolyzer consumption. For instance, the BtL route still has a net electricity production in the scenario with the highest electrolyzer consumption. The AtJ+ route shows the largest fluctuations due to added hydrogen requirements for the CO₂ conversion into SAF. The e-SAF routes are substantially more impacted by varying the electrolyzer consumption, but the ranges from the minimum to maximum bound seem smaller compared to those of the land use sensitivity analysis. In the most pessimistic scenario, the e-FT route has an electricity requirement 33 times as large as the electricity requirement of the regular AtJ route and 4.5 times as large as the AtJ+ route. This sensitivity analysis has been left out of the main research as it does not show huge differences between the lower and higher boundary.



Figure 28 - Sensitivity analysis electricity consumption SAF production routes